
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, APRIL 01, 2025 – 6:00 PM 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting. 

Anyone wishing to address the City Council is requested to complete a card at the City Clerk’s desk.  

Speakers are respectfully requested to abide by the following procedures: 

*Limit your comments to three (3) minutes                                *No debating and rebuttals 

*Speak directly to the Mayor not staff or the audience             *Time cannot be allocated to others 

*No raising your hand and speaking from the audience           *Only speak one (1) time per agenda item 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Youth Pastor Travis Ivey, Hickory Grove Baptist 

Church 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Proclamation - Water Conservation Month 

2. Proclamation - Public Safety Telecommunicators Week 

PRESENTATIONS 

3. FMPA - April 2025 Bob Page 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

4. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-03-2025 amending the Future Land Use for parcel 

017678-000-00 located in the 600 block of N Pine Ave: From: Neighborhood     To:     Public  

Michael Daniels 

5. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-04-2025 amending the zoning for parcel 017678-000-

00 located in the 600 block of N Pine Ave: From: Residential Professional Office (RPO) To:     

Institutional (INS) Michael Daniels 

6. First reading of Ordinance No. O-5-2025 regarding Affordable Housing Related Land 

Development Code Changes Michael Daniels 

7. Public Hearing – Fair Housing presentation to support application for a grant in the 23-24 CDBG 

Grant cycle. Mike Null and Melissa Fox, Fred Fox Enterprises 

Page 1



April 01, 2025 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

8. Public Hearing – First Public Hearing to support application for a grant in the 23-24 CDBG 

Grant cycle. Mike Null and Melissa Fox, Fred Fox Enterprises 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

9. City Council approval of the Gustafson Park Development Agreement with Clay County Utility 

Authority (CCUA).  Michael Daniels 

10. City Council approval of Mittauer Invoice # 25106 in the amount of $446,770.00, and 

authorization for the mayor to execute Disbursement Request #5 (to follow) for permitting and 

design services for the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System & Potable Water System 

Improvements. Scott Schultz 

11. City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, Amendment #4 to Loan 

Agreement WW10420 & Grant Agreement AG100421, which extends the Agreement date to 

September 15, 2025, for permitting and design services for the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water 

System & Potable Water System Improvements. Scott Schultz 

12. City Council approval of the Sawcross (Tender Contractor) Pay Request #11, in the amount of 

$228,920.55, and authorization for the mayor to execute Disbursement Request # 25 (to follow), 

for construction of the Harbor Road Advanced Wastewater Treatment Facility (HRAWWTF), as 

part of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State Revolving Fund 

(SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, SRF Agreement 

No. WW1000420.  Scott Schultz 

13. City Council approval to surplus Electric Department Vehicle # 403, a 2009 Ford F-150 that has 

outlived its useful life. Scott Schultz 

14. City Council approval to surplus various small items from the police department.  Scott Schultz 

15. City Council approval to surplus Parks Department Vehicle # 635, a 2009 Ford Econoline Van 

that has outlived its useful life.  Scott Schultz 

16. City Council selection of a Citizens Advisory Task Force (CATF) to support application for a 

grant in the 23-24 CDBG Grant cycle. Mike Null 

17. City Council approval of Resolution R-04-2025, providing the disposition of $2,000,000 in over-

recovered electric Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) funds from FY 23-24. Mike Null 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

18. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

Page 2



April 01, 2025 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

19. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 6:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



Page 4

Item #1.



Page 5

Item #2.



FMPA Report 

 

April 2025 

 

Rate Call 

 

The average price of natural gas for the month was $3.96. A late spring cold wave in the northern 

half of the United States has keep natural gas prices somewhat elevated. Natural gas storage is 

slightly below historical averages at this time. On the bright side, renewable energy generation 

will allow natural gas storage to build faster in late spring and summer helping to hold prices  

down. 

 

Natural gas accounted for 79% of the generation mix. Coal was 10%; nuclear was 7%. Solar 

generation was 3%.  

 

The peak for the month was 13 February at 74PM. 

 

Board of Directors 

 

The Board of Directors approved a resolution celebrating Craig Dunlap’s 48 years of providing 

financial advise to FMPA and its member cities. Also approved where the strategic planning 

session priorities: 

• Commit FMPA resources—both human and financial—to support nuclear and other reliable 

resource expansion initiatives in Florida; 

• Advocate for abundant and affordable natural gas; 

• Support Members by enabling and facilitating reliability-focused investments and other value-

added services; 

• Advocate for coordinated studies at state/FRCC level for transmission investments to cost 

effectively ease Central Florida Corridor congestion; 

• Develop a robust talent pipeline and succession strategies within the Agency’s administrative 

and operational teams. 

 

Information items were Solar Project III termination, quarterly HR update, quarterly compliance 

update, communications and social media analytics update and Stanton audit and project update. 

 

Executive Committee 

 

The Executive Committee approved new targets for the rate stability program, a prepaid gas deal 

and the strategic planning priorities: 

• Continue to ensure high availability of FMPA’s low-cost generation to provide low-cost 

power; 

• Evaluate life-extension and cost-justified capacity upgrades for existing generation, including 

options for reliable on-island KEYS capacity.; 

Page 6

Item #3.



• Leverage tightening wholesale power markets and FMPA excess to pursue additional 

municipal and third-party sales creating added value for FMPA ARP; 

• Mitigate exposure to Stanton 2 coal dispatch costs by implementing scheduling; 

• Maximize asset value through expansion of FMPP services and/or alternative opportunities; 

• Gather information to prepare for interaction with potential data centers. 

 

The information agenda items reviewed were Solar Project Phase III, quarterly HR update, 

quarterly compliance update, extension of FPL network integration transmission service and 

Duke transmission work for Cane Island pipeline relocation. 

 

 

 

Page 7

Item #3.



Executive Committee

8a – Natural Gas Price Stability Program 
Quarterly Update

March 20, 2024
Page 27 of 89 Page 8

Item #3.



Latest Domestic Policy News Impacting Gas Prices

• Declaration of a national energy emergency
 Looking to boost domestic oil and gas production by removing regulations 

• DOE approved expansion of Golden Pass LNG project in Texas

• FERC revoked interim policy statement on assessing greenhouse gas 
emissions for natural gas projects.

• Repeal of methane emissions fee could reduce operation cost for producers

2

Current Administration Driving Long Term Impacts

Page 28 of 89 Page 9

Item #3.



Latest Foreign Policy News Impacting Gas Prices

3

 25% Tariffs for Canada and Mexico estimate a 15% - 30% price increase
• Despite Canada only accounting for <5% of total demand

 Ending of Ukraine War estimate a short term 60% -70% price decrease

 Restart Nord Stream 2 pipeline project, signaling possible shifts in U.S.-Russia 
energy relations

 EU delayed plan to phase out Russian energy 

 European Commission has proposed maintaining the EU's gas storage filling 
goals until 2027, aiming for 90% capacity by November 1 each year.

Page 29 of 89 Page 10

Item #3.



32
.0

33
.1

34
.2

35
.4

36
.5

37
.6

38
.7

39
.9

41
.0

42
.1

43
.3

44
.4

45
.5

46
.7

47
.8

48
.9

50
.1

Average Temperature Per Day

2025
Range for

1998 - 2024

January Weather Recap 

4

January 2025 Ranked as 22nd coldest in last 75 years 

2024

2022

2023

Page 30 of 89 Page 11

Item #3.



Gas Storage 574 Bcf Below Last Year

5

Storage Levels Nearing Bottom for Winter 2025
Tc

f

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

Forecast
Avg
2023
2024
2025

Projected 2025 
Inventory

Page 31 of 89 Page 12

Item #3.



90

110

130

150

170

190

Jan-01 Jan-08 Jan-15 Jan-22 Jan-29 Feb-05 Feb-12 Feb-19 Feb-26 Mar-05

Total Demand

9

12

15

18

Jan-01 Jan-08 Jan-15 Jan-22 Jan-29 Feb-05 Feb-12 Feb-19 Feb-26 Mar-05

LNG

Record High

85

90

95

100

105

110

Jan-01 Jan-08 Jan-15 Jan-22 Jan-29 Feb-05 Feb-12 Feb-19 Feb-26 Mar-05

Dry Production

Cold Weather Demand Up 12 BCF More Than Supply 

20252024

Record High

Record High

Production Up .8 BCF, Total Demand, LNG & ResCom. Up 13, 1.4 & 6.9 Respectively

20

35

50

65

80

Jan-01 Jan-08 Jan-15 Jan-22 Jan-29 Feb-05 Feb-12 Feb-19 Feb-26 Mar-05

Rescomm

Page 32 of 89 Page 13

Item #3.



Cold and Volatility Push Curve to Multi-Year Highs

7

Summer 2025 up 19% Since Jan. & 33% Since Oct.

$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

$4.50

$5.00

$5.50

$6.00

Apr-25 Jul-25 Oct-25 Jan-26 Apr-26 Jul-26 Oct-26 Jan-27 Apr-27 Jul-27 Oct-27

3-Year Range per 
Contract Month 

March 6th Curve

Dec 9th Curve

     

Page 33 of 89 Page 14

Item #3.



Program Updates

8Page 34 of 89 Page 15

Item #3.



Stability Programs Current Positions 

9

Looking for Winter ’25 - ’26 and Summer ‘26

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80% MaxTarget Strategy

Staff Discretion

Current 
Positions 

Page 35 of 89 Page 16

Item #3.



Rate Projections Targets Approved in Dec. 2024 

10

Projected Rate Changes Due to New Budget Model – Nov.2024

Summer Date 
Ranges

Target 
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate 

($/MWh)

Apr 25 – Oct 25 $2.75 $69.78

April 26 - Oct 26 $3.20 $77.12

April 27 - Oct 27 3.25 $83.93

Winter Date 
Ranges

Target
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate

($/MWh)

Nov 24 - Mar 25 $2.65 $84.69

Nov 25 - Mar 26 $3.50 $91.75

Nov 26 - Mar 27 3.60 $89.22

Fiscal Year 
Target
Rate

($/MWh)

2025 $77.23

2026 $84.44

2027 $86.75

Page 36 of 89 Page 17

Item #3.



Targets Well Below Current Market

11

New Positions Expected After Winter and Market Uncertainty

$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

$4.50

$5.00

$5.50

$6.00

Apr-25 Jul-25 Oct-25 Jan-26 Apr-26 Jul-26 Oct-26 Jan-27 Apr-27 Jul-27 Oct-27

March 6th Curve
Current Strip $ Above 

Target / No Buy

Summer/Winter 
Target Pricing

$2.00

$1.70

$0.91

$0.86

$0.31

Page 37 of 89 Page 18

Item #3.



New Rate Projections Target for Next Three Winters

12

New Projected Rates Based on Forward Curve – March 2025

Summer Date 
Ranges

Target 
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate 

($/MWh)

Apr 25 – Oct 25 $2.75 $69.78

April 26 - Oct 26 $3.45
(+0.25)

$76.30
(-$0.82)

April 27 - Oct 27 3.25 $78.39
(-$5.54)

April 28 - Oct 28 3.25 *$78.90

Winter Date 
Ranges

Target
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate

($/MWh)

Nov 24 - Mar 25 $2.65 $84.69

Nov 25 - Mar 26 $3.90
(+0.40)

$89.04
(-$2.71)

Nov 26 - Mar 27 3.90
(+0.40)

$89.47
(+.25)

Nov 27 - Mar 28 3.90 $90.27

Fiscal Year 
Target
Rate

($/MWh)

2025 $77.23

2026 $81.62
(-2.82)

2027 $83.06
(-$3.69)

2028 *83.63

*Estimate for Summer 2028Page 38 of 89 Page 19

Item #3.



$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

$4.50

$5.00

$5.50

$6.00

Apr-25 Jul-25 Oct-25 Jan-26 Apr-26 Jul-26 Oct-26 Jan-27 Apr-27 Jul-27 Oct-27 Jan-28

New Targets Give More Options for Positions

13

New Positions Expected After Winter and Market Uncertainty

March 6th Curve
Current Strip $ Above 

Target / No Buy

Summer/Winter 
Target Pricing

$2.00

$1.30

$0.62
$0.54

$0.31

$0.29

Page 39 of 89 Page 20

Item #3.



14

Price Increases Has Reduced Margin by $27.7M this Fiscal Year 
Margin Required

*As of March 7th  Close

$9.97 
$(0.05)

$(6.10)
$(1.14)

$(6.11)

$(21.60)

Q1 24 Q2 24 Q3 24 Q4 24 Q1 25 *Q2 25

M
Ill

io
ns

-$30

-$25

-$20

-$15

-$10

-$5

$0

$5

$10

$15

Page 40 of 89 Page 21

Item #3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-03-2025 amending the Future Land Use for parcel 

017678-000-00 located in the 600 block of N Pine Ave: 

From: Neighborhood     To:     Public  Michael Daniels 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Clay County Board of County 

Commissioners 
OWNER:  John Fagan 

PROPERTY LOCATION: N Pine Ave, north of Walburg St 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017678-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-25-001 

CURRENT ZONING:  Residential Professional Offices 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Public 

Z: Institutional 

Use: Government Parking Lot 

SOUTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: RPO 

Use: Vacant Residential 

EAST: FLU: Mixed-Use 

Z: GCN 

Use: Residential Single Family 

WEST: FLU: Neighborhood  

Z: R1A 

Use: Vacant Residential 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant, Caleb Risinger, Real Estate Acquisitions Manager for Clay County has requested a future 

land use amendment for the property located on the eastern edge of N Pine Ave, located adjacent to the Clay 

County parking lot on Palmetto Ave, for all of parcel 38-06-26-017678-000-00, from Neighborhood to 

Public.  A companion rezoning request from Residential Professional Office to Institutional is also included 

on this agenda.  The current property owner is John Fagan, ownership of the property will transfer to Clay 

County contingent upon approval of the Future Land Use and companion rezoning application.  Pursuant to 

the County’s enclosed statement of change and subsequent meetings with County officials, they are 

interested in purchasing the property to add a recreational /gathering area as well as expand their existing 

parking at this location and the undeveloped county property to the west of the subject property fronting 

Palmetto Avenue.      

Page 22

Item #4.



 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

The property covers approximately 0.14 acres and is located on N Pine Ave just north of Walburg St. 

Currently the property is vacant with some tree coverage.  

 

Figure 1. Aerial Map 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by the 

City’s sanitation services.    

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following annexation and rezoning requests: 

Application # Description 

ZON-25-001 Rezoning Application from RPO to Institutional 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 23

Item #4.



 

Environmental Conditions Analysis 

 
Maps of Environmental Features 

 

Wetlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24

Item #4.



 

Soils 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25

Item #4.



 

Flood hazard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 26

Item #4.



 

Figure 2. Current FLU 

 

 

Figure 3. Proposed FLU 

Page 27

Item #4.



 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Soils 

There is currently 1 type of soil located onsite: 

 Ultisol 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District as well as the City’s stormwater management requirements and provide 

stormwater capacity and water quality treatment onsite.     

 

Flood Zones 

According to the FEMA Flood Map Service, the project site is not located within a flood zone. 
Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, identifies 13 

primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these indicators shall 

consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features and characteristics unique 

to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

Page 28

Item #4.



(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop as low-

intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to Public.  Revising 

the Future Land Use designation to Public, will allow for public uses, including government facilities. 

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas at 

substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are available and 

suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located adjacent to the US17 corridor and is surrounded by land 

presently used for similar uses to the use being proposed.  The project site is located within the City’s water 

and sewer and electric urban service areas. 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns generally 

emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Public Designation is consistent with the use of abutting parcels. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 

shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site does not include wetlands or floodplains however the site is lightly 

wooded.  New development shall comply with the City’s landscaping, tree preservation, stormwater and 

floodplain requirements.       

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial and 

governmental development and adjacent to undeveloped Residential Professional zoned property. There are 

no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services. 

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing development, the 

proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site will be used to expand on existing public facilities. 

(VIII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, and 

energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable water, sanitary sewer, 

stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, and general 

government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site will not significantly increase the cost in time, money, and energy 

of providing and maintaining facilities.   

(IX) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban service 

areas  and is not adjacent to any rural zoned properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Page 29

Item #4.



Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is located 

within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located adjacent to existing Public uses and will be utilized in 

a similar manner. 

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site shall have direct access to Palmetto Ave. 

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape ordinance to 

ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also establishes eight 

(8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed to not be considered 

urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form criteria, and an evaluation 

of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The applicant has provided an analysis 

of the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the application materials, and contends that 

the proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets four of the eight urban form 

criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and 

ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban 

services areas which has been planned to accommodate growth which allows for the preservation of the 

natural resources of outlying areas.  In addition, all new development shall comply with the City’s 

landscaping, tree preservation and resource protection ordinances.    

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, is proposed to 

provide an expansion of parking lot area for County offices located to the east of the subject property on US 

17.   

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix of uses 

at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal transportation 

system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: Internal Sidewalk connections shall be provided as part of the site development. .  

4. Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding development. 

There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure 

to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape ordinance to 

ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  
Page 30

Item #4.



7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the nonresidential 

needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing or planned 

development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an innovative development 

pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

9. The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer Service, and Electric Boundaries. It will be served by 

the City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use 

of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare. 

Policy 1.1.1 e: Public (PUB): This FLUC is intended to accommodate a range of public/semi-public uses 

including government facilities, civic/institutional uses, educational facilities, parks and recreation facilities, 

and conservation areas. v. Density: NA iv. Maximum Intensity: 0.3 FAR 

Policy 1.3.4. The City shall require all new development and redevelopment projects to integrate 

harmoniously into established neighborhoods through the use of buffering, open space, landscaping, and 

other site design tools.  

Policy 1.6.5. The City shall encourage the development, redevelopment, and infill of vacant properties 

within developed portions of the City.  

 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital Improvements 

Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained. 

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

 

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

Goal 1: The city shall conserve, utilize, and protect its natural resources to ensure that adequate resources 

are available for future generations. 

Policy 5.2.1 The city shall ensure the preservation of native and significant vegetative communities through 

the implementation of its Landscape and Tree Protection Ordinance 

  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION ELEMENT  

Goal 7:  The City of Green Cove Springs shall foster and encourage intergovernmental coordination between 

the city, clay county and regional, state, and federal entities. 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Page 31

Item #4.



Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  

Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

General Office* 1,875 1.9 21 1.56 3 1.9 2 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The above calculations were done by assuming the parcel would be used for governmental 

offices at the maximum square footage allowed by the proposed zonings FAR of 0.3.   

 

Potable Water Impacts 

Office 

 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                                206 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,186,794 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 

2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 
 

 

 

Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on the assumption that an office building would be constructed at the 

maximum square footage allowed by the proposed zonings FAR of 0.3. 

Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

Office 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2    206 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 329,794 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 

2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on the assumption that an office building would be constructed at the 

maximum square footage allowed by the proposed zonings FAR of 0.3. 

Solid Waste Impacts 

Office 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 None 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs does not provide commercial sanitation services, prospective sanitation collection franchisees shall comply 

with City Code Section 66-10. 
 

Solid Waste Impacts Page 32

Item #4.



The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste Management 

Facility operated by Clay County. Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum of three (3) years 

capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For commercial 

developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must instead contract 

with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion: The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively impact 

the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity 

 

Compatibility 

The Subject Property is located adjacent to an existing parking lot utilized by Clay County. Clay County 

intends to expand the parking lot onto the subject parcel.  The requested future land use amendment will 

match the future land use of the existing parking lot to allow for parking lot expansion for the Clay County 

Government offices.  

 

Intent of Existing Future Land Use Designation 

Neighborhood 

Neighborhood (NBD): This FLUC is intended to accommodate primarily low-to-medium density 

residential uses. Support/secondary uses include professional offices, and public/semi-public facilities.  

i. Density Range: Up to 12 dwelling units (du) per (/) acre (ac)  

ii. ii. Maximum Intensity: 0.2 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Intent of Proposed Future Land Use Designation Public (PUB): This FLUC is intended to 

accommodate a range of public/semi-public uses including government facilities, civic/institutional 

uses, educational facilities, parks and recreation facilities, and conservation areas.  

v. Density: NA  

vi. Maximum Intensity: 0.3 FA 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending approval of the proposed future land use request.  

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use Amendment 

Motion to approve the second and final reading of Ordinance O-03-2025, to amend the future land use of 

Parcel ID 017678-000-00 from Neighborhood to Public. 

 
 

 

Page 33

Item #4.



Page 34

Item #4.



Page 35

Item #4.



Page 36

Item #4.



Page 37

Item #4.



Page 38

Item #4.



Page 39

Item #4.



ORDINANCE NO. O-03-2025 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR ±.143 

ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED IN THE 600 

BLOCK OF PINE AVENUE, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 

017678-000-00, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT 

“A”, FROM NEIGHBORHOOD TO PUBLIC; PROVIDING FOR 

REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a large-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as described 

below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on February 25, 2025 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency 

(LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing 

concerning the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearings on March 18, 2025 and April 1, 2025 and provided for and received 

public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  The proposed Future Land Use Map amendment is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

3.  The amendment will not cause a reduction in the adopted level of service standards 

for transportation, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, stormwater, recreation, 

or public schools. 

Page 40

Item #4.



Ordinance No. O-03-2025 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

Section 2. Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map Amended.  The 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map is hereby amended from Neighborhood to Public for 

Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-017678-000-00 in accordance with the legal description found in 

Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 3. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 4. Repealing Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 

herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 5. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 6. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

 

 

  

 

  

Page 41

Item #4.



Ordinance No. O-03-2025 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 18th DAY OF MARCH 2025. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 1st DAY OF APRIL 2025. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 42

Item #4.



Ordinance No. O-03-2025 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

  

The South Half (1/2) of Lot Four (4) in Block Twenty-Two (22), of the North Suburbs of 

Green Cove Springs, according to the plat thereof as recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 1, of the 

public records of Clay County, Florida. 

  

Page 43

Item #4.



Ordinance No. O-03-2025 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44

Item #4.



Small-Scale Future Land use map 

amendment and rezoning  for parcel 

017678-000-00 consisting of 0.14 acres 

for property located in the 600 block of  
N Pine Ave

Page 45

Item #4.



Property and Applicant Information

SUBJECT: Request for a small-scall future land use amendment and 

rezoning of parcel 017678-000-00 consisting of 0.14 acres for 

property located on N Pine Ave

APPLICANT/AGENT: Clay County Board of County Commissioners

PROPERTY OWNER: John Fagan

LOCATION: N Pine Ave

ACREAGE: ±0.14 acres 

(Per boundary survey and legal description)

Page 46

Item #4.



Boundary 

Survey

Page 47

Item #4.



Property 

Location

Page 48

Item #4.



Future Land Use

Page 49

Item #4.



Proposed Future 

Land Use

Page 50

Item #4.



Zoning

Page 51

Item #4.



Proposed Zoning

Page 52

Item #4.



Compatibility

 Located adjacent to a parcel with the same FLU and

Zoning.

 Property to the south is undeveloped.

 Augusta Savage Park is located across Pine Ave.

 The property will be used as an extension to the existing

parking lot for Clay County.

Page 53

Item #4.



Compatibility

 Screening and landscape buffering will be required

along portions of amendment parcel abutting

neighboring parcels and along Pine Ave.

 Access to the subject property shall be provided

through the interior of the existing parking lot. Not along

Pine Ave.

Page 54

Item #4.



Transportation Impacts

Land Use1

Square 
Footage/
Dwelling 

Units

Daily PM Peak

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips

General Office 1,875 1.9 21 1.9 2

Page 55

Item #4.



Parking Impacts

Page 56

Item #4.



Staff Recommendation

 Recommend approval of second and final reading of

ordinance O-03-2025, to amend the Future Land Use from

Neighborhood to Public for approximately 0.14 acres of parcel

017678-000-00.

 Recommend approval of second final reading of ordinance O-

04-2025, to amend the Zoning from Residential Professional

Office to Institutional for approximately 0.14 acres of parcel

017678-000-00.

Page 57

Item #4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-04-2025 amending the zoning for parcel 017678-

000-00 located in the 600 block of N Pine Ave: 

From: Residential Professional Office (RPO) To:     Institutional (INS) Michael Daniels 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Clay County Board of County 

Commissioners 
OWNER:  John Fagan 

PROPERTY LOCATION: N Pine Ave, north of Walburg St 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017678-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: ZON-25-001 

CURRENT ZONING:  Residential Professional Office 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Public 

Z: Institutional 

Use: Government Parking Lot 

SOUTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: RPO 

Use: Vacant Residential 

EAST: FLU: Mixed-Use 

Z: GCN 

Use: Residential Single Family 

WEST: FLU: Neighborhood  

Z: R1A 

Use: Vacant Residential 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant, Caleb Risinger, Real Estate Acquisitions Manager for Clay County has requested a rezoning 

amendment for the property located on the eastern edge of N Pine Ave, located adjacent to the Clay County 

parking lot on Palmetto Ave, for all of parcel 38-06-26-017678-000-00, from RPO to Institutional.  A 

companion future land use request from Neighborhood to Public has also been submitted on this agenda.    

The current property owner is John Fagan, ownership of the property will transfer to Clay County contingent 

upon approval of the Future Land Use and companion rezoning application.  Pursuant to the County’s 

enclosed statement of change and subsequent meetings with County officials, they are interested in 

purchasing the property to add a recreational /gathering area as well as expand their existing parking at this 

location and the undeveloped county property to the west of the subject property fronting Palmetto Avenue.      

 
Page 58

Item #5.



PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

The property covers approximately 0.14 acres and is located on N Pine Ave just north of Walburg St. 

Currently the property is vacant with some tree coverage.  

 

Figure 1. Aerial Map 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by the 

City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following annexation and future land use map amendments: 

 

Application # Description 

FLUS-25-001 Future Land Use Application request from Neighborhood to Public 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 59

Item #5.



Figure 2. Current Zoning 

 

 

Figure 3. Proposed FLU 

 
Page 60

Item #5.



Compatibility 

The Subject Property is located adjacent to an existing parking lot utilized by Clay County. Clay County 

intends to expand the parking lot onto the subject parcel.  The requested zoning amendment will match the 

zoning of the existing parking lot to allow for parking lot expansion for the Clay County Government 

offices.  

 

Intent of Existing Zoning District 

Residential Professional Offices 

The residential professional offices land use (RPO), residential professional offices (RPO) zoning category 

district is intended to provide for professional offices of low intensity and design criteria which permits their 

location in close proximity to single-family districts. This district can serve as a transition district between 

low or medium density residential development and more intensive commercial development. 

 

Intent of Proposed Zoning District 

The institutional land use category consists of civic, cultural, governmental, religious, public utilities, and 

other public necessity uses. 

  

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending approval of the proposed zoning request.  

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Rezoning 

Motion to approve second and final reading of Ordinance O-04-2025, to amend the zoning of Parcel ID 

017678-000-00 from RPO to Institutional. 

 
 

 

Page 61

Item #5.



Page 62

Item #5.



Page 63

Item #5.



Page 64

Item #5.



Page 65

Item #5.



Page 66

Item #5.



Page 67

Item #5.



ORDINANCE NO. O-04-2025 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA REZONING ±.143 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY 

LOCATED IN THE 600 BLOCK OF PINE AVENUE, IDENTIFIED AS TAX 

ID NUMBER 017678-000-00, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY 

EXHIBIT “A”, FROM RPO, RESIDENTIAL PROFESSIONAL OFFICE TO 

INS, INSTITUTIONAL; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY 

AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from 

Residential Professional Office (RPO) to Institutional (INS); and  

  

WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory 

powers to rezone properties within the City; and  

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed 

rezoning on February 25, 2025 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local 

Planning Agency (LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received 

during the public hearing concerning the application and made its recommendation for 

approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at duly 

advertised public hearing on March 18, 2025 and April 1, 2025 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan 

and Land Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and 

incorporated as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and 

declares that the enactment of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, 

safety, morals, order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general 

welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from Residential Professional Office (RPO) to Institutional (INS) 

for Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-017678-000-00 in accordance with the legal 

description found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

Page 68

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O-04-2025 

Page 2 of 5 

 
 

Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be 

liberally construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are 

deemed to be in the best interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens 

and residents of Green Cove Springs, Florida. 

 

Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict 

herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City 

of Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of 

this ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or 

inoperative by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, such holding of 

invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the remaining provisions of this 

ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of such part or parts 

shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

Section 5. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon: 

1.                      Approval by City Council, and  

2.                      The effective date of Ordinance No. 03-2025 (Ref: Future Land Use 

Project FLUS25-0001). 

 

 

  

Page 69

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O-04-2025 

Page 3 of 5 

 
 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 18th DAY OF MARCH 2025. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

              

      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 1st DAY OF APRIL 2025. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

              

      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 70

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O-04-2025 

Page 4 of 5 

 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

The South Half (1/2) of Lot Four (4) in Block Twenty-Two (22), of the North Suburbs of 

Green Cove Springs, according to the plat thereof as recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 1, of the 

public records of Clay County, Florida. 

  

Page 71

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O-04-2025 

Page 5 of 5 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. O-5-2025 regarding Affordable Housing Related Land Development Code 

Changes Michael Daniels 
 

 

BACKGROUND 

Pursuant to the Mayor’s direction at the December City Council meeting, staff has put together a list of 

potential code changes regarding incentivizing affordable housing.  These proposed changes are consistent 

with Comprehensive Plan Policy 3.1.4: 

Policy 3.1.4. Through amendments to the LDC, the City shall provide the following incentives for the 

development or redevelopment of affordable housing, as recommended in Florida Statutes Section 

420.9076:  

a.  Density bonuses.  

b.  Modification of street requirements.  

c.  Permitting affordable accessory dwelling units.  

d.  Preparation of a printed inventory of locally owned public lands suitable for affordable housing.  

e. Support of development near transportation hubs, major employment centers, and mixed-use 

developments. 

 Proposed Ordinance Changes 

 Allow Accessory Dwelling Units (Mother-in-law suites) for all zoning districts that approve single- 

family development subject to specific development criteria. 

o See attached requirements for accessory dwellings   

 Exempt enclosed garage requirements (Sec. 117-5) for new or redevelopment of existing single-

family homes for affordable housing project.     

 Reduce minimum building size requirements in residential zoning districts to 900 square feet.    

Current code requires a minimum of a 1,250 square feet of living area with a 200 square foot 

garage, and R-2, requires a minimum of 1,000 square feet of living area with a 200 square foot 

garage.    

 Modification of Street Requirements to allow for narrower right of ways to allow for a greater 

density of development.   

 Currently, the City/County do provide waiver/deferral options for impact/mobility fees for 

affordable housing projects.   

Page 73

Item #6.



During the March 25th Planning and Zoning Board meeting, the board asked staff to review an increase of the 

allowable percentage for the Additional Dwelling Units (ADUs) related to the Primary Structure and to review the 

language for the affordable housing exemption for the enclosed garage requirement for new residential development. 

The Board then recommended to City Council the approval of Ordinance O-05-2025 with these additional 

comments. Staff has made the following changed based on these recommendations: 

 Allowable percentage of the ADU related to the primary structure has been increased to 50%  

 Lot area requirement of 7500SF has been added for ADUs 

 Language for the affordable housing exemption for the enclosed garage requirement for new residential 

development has been revised to allow for confirmation of funding by governmental affordable housing 

programs for spec home development. 

 Clarification that independent utility meters shall be provided to the ADU. 

Attachments Include: 

 Roadway Design Flexibility Technical Assistance from the Florida Housing Coalition 

 Regulatory and Land Use issues affecting Affordable Housing presented by the Florida Housing Coalition  

 Proposed Roadway Design for Green Cove Springs 

 Orlando Alternative Housing Transportation Standards 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of Ordinance No. O-5-2025, amending City Code Chapters 113 and 117. 

 

Motion: To approve the first reading of Ordinance No. O-5-2025, amending City Code Chapter 113 Article 

II, Chapter 117 Article I, II, and establishing Chapter 117, Article XI, Section 117-798 Accessory Dwelling 

Units for form and legality. 

 
 

 

 

Page 74

Item #6.



Accessory Dwelling Unit Criteria 

             
  

Section 117-798.  Accessory Dwelling Units  

 

Residential accessory dwelling units shall be a permitted use in all residential zoning 

districts subject to the following criteria: 

 

1. Accessory dwelling units may only be located on property that is subject to an existing 

homestead exemption or on property that meets the requirements for a homestead 

exemption which the property owner has applied for through the Clay County 

Property Appraiser's Office with the expectation that the exemption will be granted. 

2. The unit shall be developed in conjunction with or after development of the principal 

dwelling unit and the owner of the property must reside within either the principal or 

the accessory dwelling unit. 

3. Accessory dwelling units shall provide additional parking to the primary residence 

pursuant to the parking requirements for single family homes as set forth in Sec. 113-

157 Off Street Parking requirements matrix in the City Land Development Code.   

4. No accessory dwelling unit shall be sold separately from the principal dwelling unit.  

5. The air-conditioned floor area of the accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 25 

percent of the air-conditioned floor area of the principal structure, The accessory 

dwelling unit shall be no less than 200 square feet of air-conditioned floor area. 

6. The accessory dwelling unit can be attached or detached to the primary residence.  

Accessory dwelling units attached to the principal structure shall be physically 

separated from said structure so as to prevent direct, internal access between the 

primary structure and the accessory dwelling units.  Detached accessory dwelling 

units shall be behind the primary structure adjacent to all roadway frontages and 

comply with the setback requirements for a primary residence in the underlying 

zoning district and shall not exceed the height of the primary structure.   

7. The accessory dwelling unit combined with the primary residence and other structures 

shall meet the density requirements of the underlying zoning district. 

8. The accessory dwelling unit shall be serviced by centralized water and wastewater. 

9. An accessory dwelling unit shall be treated as a townhome unit for impact fees. 

10. A certification in the permit application for requests to construct an accessory 

dwelling units shall be provided that requires the applicant to certify whether their 

property is part of a deed restricted community or subject to a homeowner's, 

neighborhood or master association and, if answered in the affirmative, that the 

applicant has confirmed an accessory dwelling units are allowed under the deed 

restrictions and/or rules of the homeowner's, neighborhood or master association, as 

applicable. 

Page 75

Item #6.



 
 

1 
 

Road Design Flexibility Technical Assistance 
Memorandum produced by the Florida Housing Coalition | October 23, 2023 

Introduction: The City of Green Cove Springs requested technical assistance on approaches to road 
design flexibility generally to promote affordable housing, as well as flexibility related to a specific case 
of a proposed shared driveway. The following provides resources and examples starting with general 
guidance and moving to more specific driveway examples that may be instructive. 

This work is made possible by the Florida Housing Finance Corporation’s Affordable Housing Catalyst 
Program. 

 

 

FHC team dedicated to this effort: 

- Ali Ankudowich, Technical Advisor, ankudowich@flhousing.org 
- Dayna Lazarus, Technical Advisor, lazarus@flhousing.org 
- Kody Glazer, Chief Legal and Policy Officer, glazer@flhousing.org 

General Street Design Guidance 

The City may want to review its street design standards comprehensively to evaluate 
adjustments/reduced requirements that reduce costs or increase the amount of available land that can 
be dedicated to livable square footage, while still maintaining transportation safety, to promote housing 
in general or affordable housing developments specifically.  

The City should evaluate constraints and opportunities in view of standards approval by FDOT (Sec. 113-
69(a), Green Cove Springs Code of Ordinances). For roadways under the State’s jurisdiction, there is an 
opportunity to establish a community design element in the Comprehensive Plan with a roadway design 
vision to facilitate coordination with FDOT, in accordance with Fla. Stat. 336.045(6).  

The following resources include holistic street design, including in more urban contexts. Note that these 
will not necessarily have a specific lens for promoting affordable housing (e.g., maximizing number of 
units), and they may base guidance on additional priorities, such as transportation connectivity.   

SmartCode Version 9.2: https://transect.org/codes.html  
Additional annotation for calibration available here: https://transect.org/modules.html  

Page 76

Item #6.

mailto:ankudowich@flhousing.org
mailto:lazarus@flhousing.org
mailto:glazer@flhousing.org
https://transect.org/codes.html
https://transect.org/modules.html


 
 

2 
 

This resource is an open-source form-based code that, from a transportation standpoint, aims to 
prioritize pedestrians in more urban contexts. It includes street design and connectivity standards such 
as block perimeter, curb and turning radii, road configurations and widths by design speed, parking 
configurations and lane widths by design speeds all by context (rural through urban core and special 
district contexts). It shows how these components might fit together in conjunction with the local land 
use context. Reviewing how the options align with the City’s aspired land use context and existing 
roadway design standards may be a starting point for possible adjustments.  

NACTO Urban Street Design Guide: https://nacto.org/publication/urban-street-design-guide/   
This comprehensive guide for street design focuses on an urban context, without land use included. 

Robert Steuteville, Philip Langdon, and Special Contributors, New Urbanism Best Practices Guide, 4th 
Ed. (2009) 
The following are highlighted topics summarized from additional best practice guidance on street design 
specifications in Chapter 8 Streets, with additional comments on considerations for affordable housing 
development in view of the city’s current standards. See the text for full details and roadway design 
examples by roadway type. 

• Travel lane width:  
o Research in this chapter suggests 10-foot to a maximum of 11-foot travel lanes 

enhances safety. “[Dan Burden of Glatting Jackson Kercher Anglin] says that research by 
Robert B. Noland, examining 24 years of data on all roadway types in all 50 states, 
‘concludes that 10-foot lanes for major roads (other than interstates) are safer than 
their wider-lane counterparts’” (p 136).  

o Consider lane width with street hierarchy and connectivity to disperse traffic and create 
small blocks for more options and destinations for pedestrians. 

o With regards to fire response, a street grid with ample connections and narrower 
streets in an urban context may support more timely response than in suburban areas 
presumably with wider roads. Grid connections may provide additional approaches to a 
site for fire response that may reduce the need for wider lanes for two trucks to pass 
each other (as needed on a cul-de-sac road).  

o The City of Green Cove Spring’s moving lane widths range from 11 to 12 feet; this is an 
opportunity to evaluate narrower moving lane widths and whether that will reduce 
costs or otherwise facilitate housing and affordable housing development.  

• Street parking:  
o Allowing street parking in addition to narrow lane widths supports “shared street mode” 

as opposed to free flow traffic, resulting in reduced travel speeds. 
o The City’s street standards appear to indicate no parking accommodated in the street 

classification standards in Sec. 113-66, Code of Ordinances. If this is enforced 
operationally with signs, etc., consider whether allowing street parking could not only 
enhance safety, but address parking needs currently met on-site or reduce costs of 
roadway provision by housing and affordable housing developments. 

• Connectivity:  

Page 77

Item #6.

https://nacto.org/publication/urban-street-design-guide/


 
 

3 
 

o Promoting connectivity does not require a uniform grid, and many places promoting 
connectivity still allow cul-de-sacs where there are topographical barriers, for example.  

o Historic grid city patterns make use of 400-by-200-foot blocks, with some blocks ranging 
up to 200 feet longer. 

o The City’s block length and width regulations call for consistency with adjacent areas, 
with a maximum of 2,200 feet and a minimum of 400 feet in length. Consider 
connectivity needs in conjunction with narrowing street widths; evaluate potential cost 
and land availability impacts of these factors for housing and affordable housing 
development relative to current standards.  

• Curb return radii:  
o See SmartCode range of curb return radii: 5 to 20 feet in urban contexts. 

• Pedestrian streetscape elements and planted medians:  
o Pedestrian streetscape elements and planted medians can also slow speeds and 

increase safety.  Walkability expert Dan Burden is quoted in this chapter: “As a general 
rule, the width of the right-of-way of any street should be split 50/50 between walking 
and driving. The 50 percent of the physical space that serves pedestrians includes on-
street parking buffers, tree lawns, and walkways” (p 151). 

o Consider how pedestrian streetscape and planted median requirements add to the cost 
of development. In view of safety and walkability benefits, evaluate opportunities to 
share costs of these elements for affordable housing rather than reduce or remove 
requirements. 

Florida Housing Coalition SHIP Catalyst Training – Regulatory & Land Use Planning Issues Affecting 
Affordable Housing, Part II: Regulatory Reform for Affordable Housing (June 10, 2021): 
https://www.flhousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Land-Use-Planning-Workshop-2_Regulatory-
Reform-for-Affordable-Housing.pdf  
Habitat for Humanity of Pinellas and West Pasco Counties presented information on sidewalk costs in 
development. Evaluate opportunities to share these costs for affordable housing developments. 

Policy Examples of Transportation Design Flexibility for Affordable 
Housing    
The following are excerpts of code language allowing street design or other technical flexibility for 
affordable housing projects, along with additional comments where available in correspondence with 
staff. 

Hillsborough County: Sec. 6.02.08.C, Land Development Code: Sidewalks shall be constructed on each 
side of internal subdivision streets, except as follows… 3. In Affordable Housing developments where 
sidewalks are required on only one side of internal subdivision streets.  
Brevard County:  

• Sec. 62-6310(d), Code of Ordinances: For developments providing a minimum 30 percent of 
affordable, or 15 percent workforce housing units, the following requirements may be reduced 
for private right-of-way widths, road widths, driveway widths, drive aisle widths, and turn radii 

Page 78

Item #6.

https://www.flhousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Land-Use-Planning-Workshop-2_Regulatory-Reform-for-Affordable-Housing.pdf
https://www.flhousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Land-Use-Planning-Workshop-2_Regulatory-Reform-for-Affordable-Housing.pdf


 
 

4 
 

provided they are consistent with American Association of State Highway and Transportation 
Officials (ASHTTO) guidelines, or other similar guidelines or best practices for context sensitive 
design solutions, acceptable to the county for low volume traffic conditions and speeds. 

• Evaluate opportunity to reference a more urban-context street design standard such as NACTO 
(see previous section).  

• Correspondence with planning and zoning staff did not result in examples of affordable housing 
projects that had used this flexibility. 

City of Tampa:  
• Sec. 27-153.2.25, Code of Ordinances: Exceptions to the requirements of these procedures may 

be made for subdivisions which have been certified by the city as affordable housing subdivisions 
and have been underwritten through the Mayor's Challenge Fund or other bona fide housing 
programs administered through the community redevelopment agency as follows… (b) 
Affordable housing subdivisions may also be exempt from subdivision technical requirements if 
the project incorporates or is an innovative design. 

• Correspondence with planning staff at the City of Tampa indicated projects using flexibility in 
the realm of reduced parking requirements. Based on prior experience, staff also indicated 
limitations to street design flexibility due to FDOT standards informing local street design 
standards. For larger developments where streets will be eventually turned over to the City, 
there may possibly be sidewalk width and curb adjustments, but it is unlikely. Note that there 
will be cost sharing with those improvements. 

• Cost sharing may be an approach to consider as opposed to modifying the design standards 
themselves, as noted in the previous section. 

City of Orlando: The City provides alternative housing transportation standards, including roadway 
typical section, in its Code of Ordinances section on alternative development standards for low- and very 
low-income housing projects, including roadway typical sections. See Sec. 67.606. - Alternative Housing 
Transportation Standards, Code of Ordinances (provided in separate document). 

Shared Driveway Access 
Regarding technical specifications of shared driveway access, townhomes may provide some useful 
parallels. The following are two examples from the City of Tampa (site construction plans are provided 
separately). 

• 532 W. Plaza Place: rear-loaded townhomes with 15-foot alley access to driveways; note that 
this example has an access point on either end of the alley to local roads. 

• 40 Bering Street: rear-loaded townhomes off a shared drive with only one access point to a local 
road; note that this drive is not an extension of a local road.  

In deciding whether to permit a shared drive for residences as a dead end of a local street, 
considerations in addition to the technical specifications may include but are not limited to: 

• The number of additional units that may be immediately gained if a design creates more 
buildable site area; 

• The effect on connectivity and traffic dispersion if a road stub is not provided and a future 
connection is made more difficult or impossible to the adjacent parcel; this factor might also be 

Page 79

Item #6.



 
 

5 
 

considered with effects on block sizes (i.e., is the block size still relatively small and connected 
even without the future road connection?); 

• The effect on future redevelopment options to allow/add more density if a roadway connection 
is not made; and  

• Options for accommodating parking on the street as opposed to on-site if on-street parking 
were to be allowed in the future, particularly if additional density were eventually 
allowed/added as part of redevelopment. 

Regarding legal considerations in the private realm for shared access: ensure an agreement for use, 
maintenance, etc. of the shared asset. 
 

Page 80

Item #6.



Regulatory & Land Use 

Planning Issues Affecting 

Affordable Housing

Part II: Regulatory Reform for 

Affordable Housing

June 10, 2021

Page 81

Item #6.



Sponsored by the 

Florida Housing Finance Corporation

Page 82

Item #6.



Presenters

Kody Glazer,

Florida Housing Coalition

Legal Director

Glazer@flhousing.org

Blaise Denton,

Florida Housing Coalition

Research Manager

Denton@flhousing.org

William Killingsworth,

City of  Jacksonville

Director of  Planning and Development

billk@coj.net

Sean King,

Director of  Government Relations & Advocacy

Habitat for Humanity of  Pinellas and West Pasco Counties

Sking@habitatpwp.org

Matthew Wyman,

Leon County

Housing Services Manager

wymanm@leoncountyfl.gov

Page 83

Item #6.

mailto:glazer@flhousing.org
mailto:Denton@flhousing.org
mailto:billk@coj.net
mailto:Sking@habitatpwp.org
mailto:wymanm@leoncountyfl.gov


Webinar Logistics

• All participants are on mute

• Please type in your questions and comments into the 
question box on the side panel

• We will not identify who has asked a question

• Webinar is recorded

• PPT is provided as a handout

• For follow-up information or problems downloading 
handouts, please contact glazer@flhousing.org

Page 84

Item #6.



Agenda 

I. Overview of  Florida Housing Data

II. Local Government’s Role in Making Housing Affordable

III. Basics of  Land Use Planning & Affordable Housing

IV. Best Practices for Regulatory Reform

V. Utilizing the Affordable Housing Advisory Committee (AHAC)

Page 85

Item #6.



Before we get into the weeds…

• This is a high-level overview of  each of  these policies and concepts. 
Each of  these ideas could be an hour-long training.

• These slides are intended to give you some ideas for how to engage 
with affordable housing best practices locally.

• The work will need to be done locally to understand existing planning 
policies, development patterns, and community needs.

• For any questions, contact Kody Glazer at glazer@flhousing.org

Page 86

Item #6.



I. Overview of  Florida 
Housing Data

Page 87

Item #6.



Regulatory reform starts with local data

• Understanding local housing needs data will help guide regulatory reform for 
affordable housing

• Look for the following data points to start:
• Cost burden

• Shimberg Center’s data on surplus/deficits of  affordable housing

• Home sale prices (existing and new homes)

• Building permits (type of  unit, number of  units, location)

• Household demographics (race, income, size)

• For example, knowing that your community has a relatively small household 
size may encourage you to allow smaller housing types.

• Knowing that your community has the greatest shortage of  affordable units 
at 50% AMI may help you craft incentive programs to this need.

Page 88

Item #6.



Single Family 
Home Sales Way 

Up Since the 
Beginning of  the 

Pandemic

Single Family Homes: Pre-Pandemic to Today

Total 

Sales

Paid in 

Cash

Median 

Sales Price

Days to 

Contract

Months of  

Supply of  

Inventory

Apr-21 33,264 9896 $335,526 11 1.1

Feb-20 20,693 5703 $270,000 49 3.3

Percent 

Change 61% 74% 24% -78% -67%

Florida Realtors April 2021 Single Family Home Sales

Page 89

Item #6.



Multi-Family 
Owner Sales and 
Prices Up Higher 
as a Percentage 

than Single Family, 
but Still Lower 

Overall

Townhomes and Condo: Pre-Pandemic to Today

Total 

Sales

Paid in 

Cash

Median 

Sales Price

Days to 

Contract

Months of  

Supply of  

Inventory

Apr-21 17,330 8770 $250,000 24 2.3

Feb-20 8,842 4690 $200,000 94 5.4

Percent 

Change 96% 87% 25% -74% -57%

Florida Realtors April 2021 Townhouses and Condo Sales

Page 90

Item #6.



Freddie Mac House Price Index

Page 91

Item #6.



Page 92

Item #6.



Affordable 
housing supply 
shortages differ 
across the state 

Supply/Deficit of  Affordable/Available Units by Income

Geography

0-30% 

AMI

0-50% 

AMI

0-80% 

AMI

0-120% 

AMI

Gainesville MSA -3,928 1,874 5,935 12,813

Ft. Lauderdale -33,335 -65,565 -65,683 -8,852

Daytona Beach 

MSA -9,237 -13,124 -6,389 2,357

Jacksonville MSA -29,100 -36,869 -4,181 13,043

Miami-Dade MSA -60,193 -109,305 -147,284 -69,818 

Orlando MSA -40,220 -76,534 -39,916 23,900

Tampa MSA -60,227 -92,640 -31,583 11,499

Tallahassee MSA -6,081 -3,685 4,503 5,561

Shimberg Center for Housing Studies Page 93

Item #6.



-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

 $-

 $500

 $1,000

 $1,500

 $2,000

 $2,500

 $3,000

Florida Miami Jacksonville Tampa Orlando

Rental Price Change: Florida and Major Cities

Rent April 2020 Rent April 2021 Percent Change Page 94

Item #6.



Census Survey of  Permits

19625

12749

274 74

6528

185

12223

8135

212 94

3782

85

25394

18073

204 132

6985

369
0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

Total 1 Unit 2 Units 3 and 4 Units 5 Units or More Num of Structures With 5
Units or More

April Permits: 2021, 2020, 2005

2021 2020 2005

67035

46559

1146 482

18848

580

52818

35789

786 344

15899

412

92479

67967

1046 1184

22282

1216
0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

Total 1 Unit 2 Units 3 and 4 Units 5 Units or More Num of Structures With 5
Units or More

Year to Date Permits: 2021, 2020, 2005

2021 2020 2005

Page 95

Item #6.



Conclusions

• Understanding local housing data is key to shaping 
local housing policies. In most communities, there 
is lack of  affordable housing for households 
making up to 80% AMI.

• Florida is currently in a dramatic home price build 
up and housing supply crunch. While this benefits 
existing homeowners, renters and new, younger 
households will have more difficulty become first-
time homeowners.

• More housing supply needs to be built to keep up 
with demand and rising home prices.

Page 96

Item #6.



II. Local Government’s 
Role in Making Housing 
Affordable

Page 97

Item #6.



Housing Element of  the Comprehensive Plan 

• Required element of  the local Comp Plan. Fla. Stat. § 163.3177(6)(f)(1).

• Requires local governments to plan for the “provision of  housing for all current and 
anticipated future residents” and the “provision of  adequate sites for . . . housing for 
[lower income] families.”

• Local government is not required to build all the affordable housing needed in a 
community, but it is required to create an environment conducive for the private 
sector to produce affordable housing.

• Public sector uses its land use planning and financing tools to ensure the private 
sector will produce housing that is affordable.

• Task: read your local government’s housing element, ask if  it is being implemented, 
and use it as a catalyst for innovative policies

Page 98

Item #6.



Local Government role in affordable housing

Financial 
Resources

Zoning & 
Land Use

Land

Strategic 
Partnerships

Page 99

Item #6.



How should local government be involved?
• Local government cannot deed restrict or monitor every unit of  

affordable housing needed in a community long-term.

• Yet, local government can use the land use planning process to 
require, facilitate, and encourage the production of  enough 
affordable housing units to make a measurable impact on the 
community.

• A successful comprehensive approach includes 
• Deed-restricted units

• Preserving and encouraging naturally occurring affordable units (units 
without subsidy)

• Boosting housing supply in general

Page 100

Item #6.



The Three Acts – Land Use Planning for Affordable Housing

1. “Require” – to claim or ask for by right and authority

• Local governments can use their zoning and land use authority to require the production of  
affordable housing.

• Examples: inclusionary zoning, negotiated development rights, financial resources

2. “Facilitate” – to make an action or process easy or easier

• Local governments can aid the production of  affordable housing by facilitating partnerships, 
lowering development costs, and easing development standards.

• Examples: expedited permitting, zoning flexibility, fee waivers, government-owned lands

3. “Encourage” – to attempt to persuade

• Local governments can encourage market-rate developers to produce affordable units.

• Examples: density bonuses, zoning incentives

Page 101

Item #6.



III. Basics of  Land Use 
Planning & Affordable 
Housing

Page 102

Item #6.



Deed-restrictions? Free market? Both?

• Housing prices are set at whatever the market will bear

• Increasing housing supply alone will not produce all the 
affordable units needed, particularly for ELI and VLI 
households (up to 50% AMI) and all households in more 
populated counties 

• Consider population growth, housing demand, and housing 
supply. 

• Greater need = more justification for deed restricted 
housing

Page 103

Item #6.



Impact of  zoning & land use policies on housing

Zoning and land use policies impact the: 

• 1) cost of  development

• 2) number of  housing units that can be legally produced in a jurisdiction

• 3) types of  housing allowed

• 4) location of  different uses

• 5) infrastructure capacity of  new development

• 6) willingness of  the private sector to produce affordable housing

Goal: structure land use policies to require, facilitate, and encourage 
affordable development & to increase housing supply generally

Page 104

Item #6.



Land use policies to start with for regulatory reform

1. Zoning & future land use maps

2. Allowable uses & densities

3. Parking, setback, & lot arrangement requirements

4. Permitting, inspection, & other fees

5. Permitting process

6. Financial incentives & land resources

Page 105

Item #6.



1. Zoning & future land use maps

• Study zoning and future land use maps to understand community 
design 

• Land use planning documents set a legal cap on the number of  
housing units that can be developed and the location for different 
types of  housing

• Ask things like:
• How much/what percentage of  buildable land is zoned for low-density, 

single-family only housing?

• What is the zoning around transportation corridors, employment centers, and 
other areas of  opportunity? 

• Does our zoning code match community needs for housing?

Page 106

Item #6.



*Yellow is single-family only zoning*

Page 107

Item #6.



Idea: Direct staff  to provide yearly analysis of  “zone 
stats” 
• Understanding the scope of  buildable land dedicated to different uses 

can help shape affordable housing policy.

• Sample table to use. Include all zone districts and local stats.

Zone Zone 

Description

# of  Parcels % of  Parcels Land Area % of  Land 

Area

R-1 Single-family 

residential

R-2 Multi-family 

residential

C-1 Low-intensity 

Commercial

A-1 Agricultural

Page 108

Item #6.



2. Allowable uses & densities

• Understand the allowable housing types and densities in your 
community’s zoning code and where certain housing types are allowed

• This analysis could lead your community to increase densities and 
allow more flexible housing types to match housing needs

• Best practices: 
• Allow ADUs and missing middle housing types (duplexes, triplexes, 

townhomes, etc.) by right in more areas of  the community

• Allow increased densities around transit and employment for affordable 
housing developments

• Promote mixed-use opportunities

Page 109

Item #6.



3. Parking, setback, and lot arrangement requirements
• Flexibility in these requirements can help lower development costs and ensure 

that more buildable land is available for housing development.

• Parking: Study existing parking requirements and identify areas where standards 
can be waived or amended for affordable housing units. For example, if  on-street 
parking is available, requiring multiple off-street parking spaces can be 
burdensome.

• Setbacks/lot arrangements: Flexibility in setback and lot arrangement 
requirements can allow more smaller units to be developed on a single parcel or 
allow smaller lots to contain homes. Beneficial for “missing middle” and 
accessory dwelling units (ADUs). Includes standards such as:

• Setbacks

• Maximum lot coverage

• Minimum lot size

• Open space requirements

• Zero-lot-line development

Page 110

Item #6.



4. Permitting, inspection, & other fees

• Study local government fees and identify fees that can be waived or 
modified for projects certified as affordable 

• Impact fees are the main type of  fee that may be modified for 
affordable housing units.

• Consider: Charge by square footage rather than by unit type.

• Fla. Stat. § 163.31801(9): local governments may “provide an 
exception or waiver for an impact fee for the development or 
construction of  housing that is affordable, as defined in s. 420.9071. 
If  a [local government] provides such an exception or waiver, it is not 
required to use any revenues to offset the impact.”

Page 111

Item #6.



5. Permitting process

• Time is money! Assess how long it takes for an affordable 
development to be approved.

• Tools for facilitating and encouraging affordable housing :
• Expedited permitting

• Clearly defining the steps of  the process (see House Bill 1059 from 2021 
Session)

• Designate a staff  person(s) responsible for shepherding individual projects 
through the process

• Whenever feasible, delegate approval authority from public hearing to 
administrative staff  review

Page 112

Item #6.



6. Financial incentives & land resources

• Study how your local government uses its federal, 
state, and local funds for affordable housing, 
including:
• State Housing Initiatives Partnership (SHIP) 

• General Revenue

• Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)

• Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA)

• Infrastructure Surtax

• Bonds

• Philanthropy

Page 113

Item #6.



6. Financial incentives & land resources
• Leveraging government-owned land can be a great boon for 

affordable housing. 

• Look at your surplus land policies

• Fla. Stat. §§ 125.379 and 166.0451 require an inventory of  government 
owned lands “appropriate for use as affordable housing”

• If  it is appropriate for market-rate housing, it is appropriate for affordable 
housing

• School board land (Fla. Stat. § 1001.43)

• Explore using available funds to purchase land for affordable 
housing

• Create an RFP for developers to build housing on government-
owned land – local government can control outcomes on the land it 
owns through deed restrictions

Page 114

Item #6.



Jacksonville’s

Regulatory Reforms

June 10, 2021 Page 115

Item #6.



CHANGE

 Pocket Neighborhoods

 Community Land Trusts

 Tiny Houses

 Small Lot Subdivisions

 Accessory Dwelling Units

36

Jacksonville changes:

Page 116

Item #6.



POCKET NEIGHBORHOODS

37

 Is the land held in common ownership?

 Houses become condos or rental

 Tiny houses fee simple not allowed

 Enter the Planned Unit Development

 A path to fee simple pocket neighborhoods

Does the code allow for them?

Page 117

Item #6.



POCKET NEIGHBORHOODS

38

Page 118

Item #6.



POCKET NEIGHBORHOODS

39

Page 119

Item #6.



POCKET NEIGHBORHOODS

40

Page 120

Item #6.



POCKET NEIGHBORHOODS

41

Page 121

Item #6.



POCKET NEIGHBORHOODS

42

Page 122

Item #6.



COMMUNITY LAND TRUSTS

43

 Amend our property disposition ordinance to include non-profit community 
land trusts to be on the same level as a city agency.

 Work with local non-profits to establish CLT

 Nurture and financially support CLT start-up

How to support them?

Page 123

Item #6.



TINY HOUSES

44

 Currently no; the code sets a minimum size of 850 sq ft

 Set to adopt State appendix for tiny houses

 Allow by right as a principle structure in RMD-A

 Allow by right as an accessory dwelling unit in RLD-X

 Require Planned Unit Development or;

 Small lot subdivisions

 Similar to town home criteria

 Similar to our test case pocket neighborhood

Does the code allow for them?

Page 124

Item #6.



ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Comprehensive Plan
 Permits accessory dwelling units by right in LDR

 Established that accessory dwelling units do not count against density caps

45

City Ordinance
 Permits accessory dwelling units by right in RLD zoning district.

 Establish criteria based on historic districts.

 Located behind principle structure

 Visual relationship to principle structure

 Limited to 25% of principle structure or 750 sq ft, whichever is less

 Max  height  is limited to principle structure height

Page 125

Item #6.



46

Questions?

Page 126

Item #6.



Florida Housing Coalition – Regulatory 
Reform for Affordable Housing Page 127

Item #6.



48
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Housing Goals

✓Safe 

✓Decent 

✓Affordable

Page 128

Item #6.



We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.
49

Current Market 
Conditions 

Rising Costs 

Data released in April from the National 

Association of Home Builders (NAHB) 

reports the cost to build a single-family 

home has surged by more than $36,000 

per home and $13,000 per apartment 

since April of 2020

Page 129

Item #6.



We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.
50

Incomes Are Not Keeping Pace

Page 130

Item #6.



51
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Case Study: Impact of Design 
Standards on Cost to Construct 
Affordable SF Homes

Page 131

Item #6.



52
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Elevated Front Entry 

Enhanced Design Requirement

The front porch must be elevated 

at least 12 inches above the 

abutting finished grade level as 

measured abutting the porch at the 

front entry. 

Effects of Enhanced Requirements

Monothlic Slab vs Stem Wall 

Foundation 

The added cost for block, concrete, 

several yards of fill dirt and the 

tractor work for compaction 

Page 132

Item #6.



53
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Elevated Front Entry 

Adds approximately $4,000 to $8,000 in cost per home

Page 133

Item #6.



54
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Fenestration & Transparency 

Page 134

Item #6.



55
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Wall Composition

Design Requirement

Building materials shall be 

appropriate to the selected 

architectural style and shall be 

consistent throughout the 

structure

Effects of Requirement

Allowing a stucco primary façade 

with struck block secondary façade 

allows for flexible options and a 

cost savings of approximately 

$2,500 per home vs consistent 

stucco. 

Page 135

Item #6.



We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.
56

Sidewalks to Nowhere!

Sidewalk costs can range between 

$1,000 to upwards of $3,000+ depending 

on the sqft needed. Often when 

redeveloping infill lots in established 

neighborhoods, requiring 50ft of sidewalk 

not only adds additional costs, it also 

creates a lability/hazard directly in front of 

the home

Page 136

Item #6.



57
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

Total Added Costs 

Zoning Requirements Addition Costs per Home

Elevated Front Entry $4,000 - $8,000

Fenestration and Transparency $600 (per window)

Wall Composition $2,500

Sidewalk $1,000 to $3,000

TOTAL ADDITIONAL COSTS $6,000 to $15,000 per home

Page 137

Item #6.



58
We build strength, stability and self-reliance through shelter.

What Does this Mean for a 
Nonprofit Developer 

➢ Higher Costs for Homeowners 

➢ Greater Subsidies Required 

➢ Reduced Capacity to Build 

➢ Increased Regulatory Hurdles

Page 138

Item #6.



IV. Best Practices for 
Regulatory Reform

Page 139

Item #6.



Study first, solutions second

• Explore local data and the land use policies explained in this training

• Then, using this knowledge, identify where policies need to be 
improved to require, facilitate, and encourage affordable housing 
development

• For example, if  your community has a housing shortage of  affordable 
units serving up to 80% AMI and you know your zoning code caps the 
number of  legal units below the amount needed to meet this gap, start 
with a density bonus and incentive program for units serving up to 80% 
AMI

• Similarly, if  you know your design standards unreasonably increase the 
cost of  development by $10k, amend your design standards

Page 140

Item #6.



The regulatory balancing act

Requiring 
Affordability

Regulatory 
Incentives

Free market

Page 141

Item #6.



The Three Acts - Revisited

Require

• Large-scale 
development (100+ 
units)

• Substantial re-
zonings

• Near transit & 
employment centers

• Projects seeking 
public subsidy 

Facilitate

• Non-profit sector

• Expedited Permitting

• Administrative 
approvals > public 
hearings

• RFP for government-
owned land

Encourage

• Allowing smaller 
housing types by 
right 

• Lowering minimum 
lot sizes

• Density bonus & 
incentive program

• You may only want to require affordability for developments seeking a substantial re-
zoning or in prime opportunity areas. To encourage affordability, you may lower lot size 
requirements City-wide in hopes of  encouraging smaller, more affordable units over time. 

Page 142

Item #6.



Don’t give away too much without affordability in return 

• Just because local government makes it cheaper to build or allows 
more units to built, that does not mean that the new units will 
actually be affordable (especially to households making up to 80% 
AMI)

• Again, housing prices are set at whatever the market will bear

• There have been examples of  local governments that amended their 
zoning codes to make them more flexible, gave too much away as-of-
right, and now cannot require affordability through the land 
development code

Page 143

Item #6.



Preserve the greatest incentives for deed-restricted housing

• Relaxing development standards to facilitate more market-rate 
housing supply will not produce all the affordable housing needed 

• Preserve the greatest zoning benefits for deed-restricted housing; 
developments you know will be affordable long-term
• Density bonuses

• Impact fee waivers

• Substantial re-zonings

Page 144

Item #6.



Incentive example: Impact fee waivers

• Florida law allows local governments to waive impact fees for 
affordable units

• However, local government will likely need a cap on how many 
impact fees in total can be waived

• Since an impact fee waiver is a limited resource, preserve the 
waiver for units that will be affordable long-term and require 
that the impact fee waiver actually results in lower housing prices

• Consider: provide impact fee waivers only to nonprofit developers 
with a track record of  providing long-term affordable housing. 

Page 145

Item #6.



Increasing density – as a bonus or by-right?

• Increasing density is one of  the most valuable bargaining chips a 
local government has to offer

• Before increasing densities across the board as-of-right, strongly 
consider conditioning density increases on the provision of  
affordable housing

• Consider density minimums

• Don’t give away too much! 

Page 146

Item #6.



Allowing missing middle housing

• More communities are adopting ordinances to allow more 
accessory dwelling units, duplexes, triplexes, townhomes by-right. 
This is good!

• Keep in mind: just because a unit is smaller, that does not mean 
that it will be affordable to households up to 80% AMI

• Consider: Allow more housing types by-right and pair other land 
use tools to facilitate the affordable missing middle units
• Expedited permitting for affordable duplexes

• Fee waivers

Page 147

Item #6.



Inclusionary zoning (IZ)

• Land use policy that requires certain market-rate developers to set-
aside a specified number of  affordable units within a market-rate 
development

• Under state law, local government must “fully offset all costs” 
associated with required affordable units under an IZ ordinance

• Partner with a non-profit organization that can manage the 
affordable units; this takes the obligation off  the market-rate 
developer

Page 148

Item #6.



Seeking public dollars? Require affordability

• If  a developer seeks public dollars for things like infrastructure 
improvements, this is an opportunity to require affordable housing 
in return

• For example, if  a large-scale developer (100+ units) seeks public 
dollars for wastewater infrastructure, roads, or other infrastructure 
needs, condition the public support on the developer setting aside 
x% of  units as affordable housing

• This voluntary, negotiated development process can ensure that 
public dollars support public goods in the form of  affordable 
housing

Page 149

Item #6.



Final thoughts

• There is not one way to go about regulatory reform for affordable 
housing – it requires knowing local data and local policy.

• Condition the most favorable zoning benefits on housing 
affordability.

• The key is to be able to adapt. If  local reforms are producing 
more units, but those units are not affordable, be willing to make 
changes.

Page 150

Item #6.



V. Utilizing the 
Affordable Housing 
Advisory Committee 
(AHAC)

Page 151

Item #6.



Affordable Housing Advisory Committees (AHAC)

• Required for every SHIP jurisdiction that receives above $350,000 in a fiscal 
year

• 8-11 members representing all aspects of  the housing industry

• Each AHAC produces an annual report which includes recommendations on 
implementing a variety of  affordable housing incentives

• Can engage in other affordable housing activities under City/County 
direction

SHIP 
(finances)

AHAC 
(regulatory 

reform)

Catalyst 
(training)

Page 152

Item #6.



The AHAC can be a catalyst for regulatory reform

• Utilizing its collective expertise from all aspects of  the local housing 
industry, the AHAC can produce actionable recommendations to 
increase the affordable housing stock

• Key considerations:
• Recruit active members of  the housing industry who will be engaged 

throughout the process

• Engage key housing & planning staff  to educate members on existing 
policies and local housing data

• Take time to review existing policies and seek out new strategies

• Encourage input from all AHAC members

• Implement the recommendations in the AHAC report

Page 153

Item #6.



Matthew Wyman,

Leon County

Housing Services Manager

wymanm@leoncountyfl.gov

Local Perspective: How to use the AHAC as a tool for good

Page 154

Item #6.

mailto:wymanm@leoncountyfl.gov


Page 155

Item #6.



Regulatory & Land 
Use Issues Affecting 
Affordable Housing 
Workshop #3

When: Wednesday, June 23 @ 2pm-3:30pm

Topics Covered:

• How to incorporate disaster resiliency in affordable 
housing planning

• 2021 Resiliency Legislation

• Mitigation housing strategies

• Creation of  a Social Vulnerability Index

Register Here or at
https://register.gotowebinar.com/register/6971231788987698702

Page 156

Item #6.

https://register.gotowebinar.com/register/6971231788987698702


Housing News Network Journal

Florida Home Matters Report

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Guidebook

Adaptive Reuse of Vacant Rentals

Affordable Housing Resource Guide

Affordable Housing Incentive Strategies 

CLT (Community Land Trust) Primer

CLT Homebuyer Education – Teacher’s Guide

CLT Homebuyer Education – Buyer’s Guide

Community Allies Guide to Opportunity Zones

Community-Based Planning Guide

Creating a Local Housing Disaster Recovery

Creating Inclusive Communities in Florida

Credit Underwriting Guide for Multi-Family 

Affordable Housing in Florida

Developing & Operating Small Scale Rental 

Properties

Disaster Management Guide for Housing

Landlord Collaboration Guidebook

PSH Property Management Guidebook

Residential Rehabilitation Guide

SHIP Administrators Guidebook

Surplus Lands Guidebook

Supporting Households Moving Out of 

Homelessness

Using SHIP For Rental Housing

Access these valuable resources and more under the Publications tab at Flhousing.org

Page 157

Item #6.



Contact Us

Kody Glazer,

Legal Director

Glazer@flhousing.org

Michael Chaney,

Technical Advisor

Chaney@flhousing.org

Jaimie Ross,

President/CEO

Ross@flhousing.org

Ashon Nesbitt,

Chief Programs Officer

Nesbitt@flhousing.org

Kimberly Spence,

Technical Advisor

Spence@flhousing.org

Aida Andujar,

Technical Advisor

Andujar@flhousing.org

Ben Toro-Spears,

Chief Strategy Officer

Toro-spears@flhousing.org

Blaise Denton,

Research Manager

Denton@flhousing.org

Page 158

Item #6.

mailto:glazer@flhousing.org
mailto:chaney@flhousing.org
mailto:ross@flhousing.org
mailto:Nesbitt@flhousing.org
mailto:Spence@flhousing.org
mailto:Andujar@flhousing.org
mailto:Toro-spears@flhousing.org
mailto:Denton@flhousing.org


Page 159

Item #6.



Page 160

Item #6.



Affordable Housing Incentive Discussion

Page 161

Item #6.



Potential Changes to Encourage 

Affordable Housing

 Accessory Dwelling Units

 Revising Enclosed Garage Requirements

 Reduce Minimum Building Size Requirements

 Modification of Street Design Requirements

Page 162

Item #6.



Accessory Dwelling Units

Page 163

Item #6.



ADU Criteria

1. Accessory dwelling units may only be located on property that is subject to an existing homestead exemption or on property that meets the

requirements for a homestead exemption which the property owner has applied for through the Clay County Property Appraiser's Office

with the expectation that the exemption will be granted.

2. The unit shall be developed in conjunction with or after development of the principal dwelling unit and the owner of the property must

reside within either the principal or the accessory dwelling unit.

3. Accessory dwelling units shall provide additional parking to the primary residence pursuant to the parking requirements for single family

homes as set forth in Sec. 113-157 Off Street Parking requirements matrix in the City Land Development Code.

4. No accessory dwelling unit shall be sold separately from the principal dwelling unit.

5. The gross floor area of the accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 50 percent of the gross floor area of the principal structure, The

accessory dwelling unit shall be no less than 200 square feet of air-conditioned floor area.

6. The accessory dwelling unit can be attached or detached to the primary residence. Accessory dwelling units attached to the principal

structure shall be physically separated from said structure so as to prevent direct, internal access between the primary structure and the

accessory dwelling units. Detached accessory dwelling units shall be behind the primary structure adjacent to all roadway frontages and

comply with the setback requirements for a primary residence in the underlying zoning district and shall not exceed the height of the primary

structure.

7. The accessory dwelling unit combined with the primary residence and other structures shall meet the density requirements of the underlying

zoning district with the exception that the minimum lot area must be 7,500 square feet.

8. Independent utility meters shall be provided to the ADU.

9. An accessory dwelling unit shall be treated as a townhome unit for impact fees.

10. A certification in the permit application for requests to construct an accessory dwelling units shall be provided that requires the applicant to

certify whether their property is part of a deed restricted community or subject to a homeowner's, neighborhood or master association and,

if answered in the affirmative, that the applicant has confirmed an accessory dwelling units are allowed under the deed restrictions and/or

rules of the homeowner's, neighborhood or master association, as applicable.

Page 164

Item #6.



Garage Requirements

 Sec. 117-5- Enclosed Garages

All residential dwelling units within the city in any land use district or zoning 

category shall have an attached or detached enclosed garage of at least ten 

feet by 20 feet.

Proposed Language:

(8) New and redevelopment of a residential dwelling for Affordable Housing for 

Low and Very Low Income persons as defined in Section 105-7 shall be exempt 

from this requirement. In order to apply for this exemption, an applicant shall 

submit an application meeting the requirements set forth in Section 105-17 (b) 

or provide confirmation that the residential new construction shall be funded 

pursuant to a governmental affordable housing program for low and very low 

income persons.      

Page 165

Item #6.



Building Size Requirements

Building Size R-1/R-1A:

Minimum living area: 1,250 square feet, together with an attached or 

detached enclosed garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. 

R-2:  Minimum living area is 1,000 square, together with an attached or 

detached enclosed garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. 

Proposed Language:

Residential Building Size will be a minimum of 900 square feet, together 

with an attached or detached enclosed garage of at least ten feet by 
20 feet. 

Page 166

Item #6.



Street Design Standards

 Pavement widths include 1’ of curb & gutter on each side

 On street parking shall only be allowed subject to an agreement between the City and

the subdivision homeowner’s association (or similar) addressing on-street parking

management.

Street Type Number of Lanes Pavement Widths Right-of-Way Widths

Local streets 2—10’ moving 22’ 50’

Collector streets 2—10' moving 22’ 50’

Minor arterial streets Normal road configuration 26' 100’

Principal arterial streets Normal road configuration 50' 200’

Page 167

Item #6.



Roadway Design-Collector

Page 168

Item #6.



Staff Recommendation

 Recommend approval of the first reading of Ordinance

No. O-5-2025, amending City Code Chapter 113 Article II,

Chapter 117 Article I, II, and establishing Chapter 117,

Article XI, Section 117-798 Accessory Dwelling Units for form

and legality.

Page 169

Item #6.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-12-04 08:50:02 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 88) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Sec. 67.606. Alternative Housing Transportation Standards. 

(a) Alternative Housing streets shall be designed to function as local streets. It shall be the responsibility of the 
developer to ensure the proper function where vehicular noise, congestion and speeds are minimized 
through the use of a combination of landscape, hardscape and road surface treatment. The street right-of-
way and optional city services easement shall support multi-modal transportation including autos, 
pedestrians, and bicycles.  

(b) The internal street system shall be designed so that at least ninety percent (90%) of the street segments 
interconnect.  

(c) Wherever an Alternative Housing development abuts unplatted land or a future development phase of the 
same development, street stubs shall provide access to abutting properties or to logically extend the street 
system into the surrounding area.  

(d) Parking Standards/Residential Development. 

(1) Parking for single family and two family development shall be designed and constructed as a paved or 
acceptable alternative hard surface.  

(2) All required parking spaces for single family and two family development shall be located outside the 
required front yard setback. For two family development, on-street parking directly abutting a lot may 
be counted toward fulfilling the off-street parking requirement except where lot width, driveway 
widths or location, street widths or other right-of-way design elements limits the number of available 
on-street parking spaces. One parking space credit shall be given for each full space abutting a lot on 
streets with a minimum 24′ wide pavement width, not including curb and gutter. Where an on-street 
space abuts more than one lot, no parking space credit shall be given. Where on-street parking is 
credited, access drives shall be situated so that there is a minimum of one full parking space in front of 
each lot.  

(e) Those streets determined during Preliminary Plat or Short Form Plat review to function as residential 
collectors shall conform with the standards established in Chapter 61 or as modified by the City 
Transportation Engineer and City Engineer. Those streets determined to be classified higher than a 
residential collector shall conform to the Land Development Code Access Management Standards. Alleys and 
One way Local Streets shall be permitted only at the discretion of the Public Works Director and the Planning 
Official. The remaining streets shall conform with the following cross section standards:  

(1) AH Local Street #1: Provides access for service vehicles and access to adjacent land use. Local Streets 
#1 should carry only traffic having either destination or origin on the street itself. Local Streets #1 may 
interconnect with streets outside the Alternative Housing development.  

Land Use: Single family, two family.  

Max. Density: 12 du/ac.  

 Specs  Alternative Specs  

50′ ROW  40′ ROW (sidewalks located in easements outside of 
the right-of-way)  

24′, 20′, or 18′, total pavement widths*  24′, 20′, or 18′ total pavement widths*  

Two 5′ wide sidewalks  Two 5′ wide sidewalk easements  

Two 6′ wide parkways**  Two 6′ wide parkways**  

Two unmarked travel lanes  Two unmarked travel lanes  

Parking lanes*  Parking lanes*  

15′ minimum curb radii  15′ minimum curb radii  

Page 170

Item #6.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-12-04 08:50:02 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 88) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

25 mph posted speed limit  25 mph posted speed limit  

2′ standard curb and gutter both sides  2′ standard curb and gutter both sides  

 

*Pavement Width and Parking Lane Alternatives:  

a) As part of the 24′ total pavement width, two unmarked parking lanes are permitted.  

b) As part of 20′ total pavement width, one unmarked parking lane is permitted with "no 
parking" signs posted by the developer on one side of the street.  

c) As part of the 18′ total pavement width, no on-street parking shall be permitted, and the 
developer shall be required to post "no-parking" signs on both sides of the street.  

**The 6′ wide parkway can be reduced to 3′ wide with the approval of the City Engineer and City 
Transportation Engineer.  

 

(2) AH Local Street #2: Provides access for service related vehicles and access to adjoining land use. The 
Local Street #2 may carry a small amount of residential through traffic generated from AH local streets.  

Land Use: Single family, two family.  

Max. Density: 21 du/ac.  

 Specs  Alternative Specs  

62′ ROW  50′ ROW* (sidewalks located in easements outside of 
the right-of-way)  

34′, 24′, 20′, or 18′ total pavement widths*  34′, 24′, 20′, or 18′ total pavement widths*  

Two 5′ wide sidewalks  Two 5′ wide sidewalk easements  

Two 7′ wide parkways**  Two 6′ wide parkways**  

Two unmarked travel lanes  Two unmarked travel lanes  

Parking lanes*  Parking lanes*  

15′ minimum curb radii  15′ minimum curb radii  

25 mph posted speed limit  25 mph posted speed limit  

2′ standard curb and gutter both sides  2′ standard curb and gutter both sides  

 

*Pavement Width and Parking Lane Alternatives:  

The parking lanes on AH Local Street #2 shall be unmarked unless striped parking is approved by 
the City Transportation Engineer.  

a) As part of the 34′ total pavement width, two unmarked parking lanes are permitted.  

b) As part of the 24′ total pavement width, two unmarked parking lanes are permitted.  

Page 171

Item #6.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-12-04 08:50:02 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 88) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

c) As part of the 20′ total pavement width, one unmarked parking lane is permitted with "no 
parking" signs posted by the developer on one side of the street.  

d) As part of the 18′ total pavement width, no on-street parking shall be permitted, and the 
developer shall be required to post "no-parking" signs on both sides of the street.  

**The parkway widths may be reduced to 6′ to permit the 50′ alternative right-of-way width. The 
parkways can be further reduced to 3′ wide with the approval of the City Engineer and the City 
Transportation Engineer.  

 

(3) AH Cul-de-Sac: Purpose is to provide access for service vehicles and access to lower density land uses 
and to allow flexibility in the design of AH cross sections.  

Land Use: Single family, two family.  

Specs: (Both options align with Local Street #1):  

 Option A*  Option B*  

39′ radius ROW  52′ radius ROW  

  5′ sidewalk  

  25′ radius center landscaped island with curbs or 
decorative pavers  

7′ wide parkway  7′ wide parkway  

30′ radius paved area  20′ paved travel lane  

15 mph posted speed limit  15 mph posted speed limit  

2′ standard curb and gutter  2′ standard curb and gutter  

 

*Culs-de-sac shall be on street segments no longer than 700′. 7′ wide parkway is optional and can 
be reduced to 3′ wide with approval of the City Engineer and City Transportation Engineer.  

No street parking shall be permitted on circle. "No parking" signs shall be installed by the 
Developer per the MUTCD.  

Page 172

Item #6.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-12-04 08:50:02 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 88) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

 

(Ord. of 2-22-1993, Doc. #26393; Ord. of 6-20-1994, Doc. #27637) 

 

Page 173

Item #6.



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. O-05-2025 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 113 & 117 OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS CODE TO ADDRESS COMPATIBILITY WITH 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT; AMENDING  CHAPTER 

113, SEC 113-66 TO REVISE STREET RIGHT OF WAY DESIGN 

STANDARDS; AMENDING CHAPTER 117-3 TO INCLUDE ACCESSORY 

DWELLING UNITS AS PERMITTED USES IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING 

DISTRICTS; AMENDING CHAPTER 117-5, TO ADDRESS ENCLOSED 

GARAGE REQUIREMENTS IN CONJUNCTION WITH SINGLE 

FAMILY HOME DEVELOPMENT; AMENDING CHAPTER 117-6 TO 

ADD LOT REQUIREMENTS FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS;  

AMENDING ARTICLE II, DIVISION 2,2.5, 3, 4 &5 TO ADD ACCESSORY 

DWELLING UNITS AS AN ACCESSORY USE AND REDUCE 

RESIDENTIAL SINGLE FAMILY BUILDING SIZE REQUIREMENTS IN 

ALL RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS;  AMENDING SECTION 117-

515 IN THE GATEWAY CORRIDOR RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO 

MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RESIDENTIAL SINGLE 

FAMILY, R-1A ZONING DISTRICT; CREATE CHAPTER 117, ARTICLE 

XI, CREATE SECTION 117-798 TO INCLUDE CRITERIA FOR 

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS;  PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, 

SEVERABILITY, AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

WHEREAS, the city is undergoing an update to our Affordable Housing 

Requirements as set forth in the Comprehensive Plan Goal 3, Objective 3.1 Policy 

3.1.4 and Florida Statutes Section 420.9076; and 

 

WHEREAS, as part of the amendments of the Comprehensive Plan, the city has 

promoted the development of all housing types for all income ranges, including low- 

and moderate-income households; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary to amend the land development regulations to ensure 

compatibility with the Comprehensive Plan policies; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Code was adopted to promote the health, safety, morals and 

general welfare of the community; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Green Cove Springs City Council has determined that this 

amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, is in the best interest of the 

public, and will promote the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Page 174

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 2 of 15 
 

SECTION 1. That Chapter 113-66 be amended as follows: 

Sec. 113-66. - Street classification standards. 

 

The following table specifies the number of lanes, pavement and right-of-way widths 

for residential, collector, and arterial streets. These requirements should be read in 

conjunction with the foregoing street type descriptions.  

 

Street Type Number of 

Lanes 

Pavement Widths Right-of-Way Widths 

Local streets 2—10’ moving  22’ 50’ 

Collector streets 2—10' moving 22’ 50’ 

Minor arterial 

streets 

Normal road 

configuration  

26' 100’ 

Principal arterial 

streets 

Normal road 

configuration 

50' 200’ 

 Pavement widths include 1’ of curb & gutter on each side 

 On street parking shall only be allowed subject to an agreement between the City and 

the subdivision homeowner’s association (or similar) addressing on-street parking 

management.  

Page 175

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 3 of 15 

 

SECTION 2. That Chapter 117 Section 117-3(a) shall be amended as follows: 

 

Use 

Use Type  R-1  
R-
1A  

R-2  R-3  RRF5  RPO6  C-18  C-2  RC29  
GCR  
(RLD)  

GCR  
(RMD)  

GCN20  GCC  INS26  
M-
1  

M-
2  

FBC 
Downtown 

Core 

FBC 
Primary 
Corridor 

FBC 
Secondary 
Corridor 

FBC 
Transition Category  

Residential Uses  

Residential 
Operation  

Home 
SE  SE  SE  SE    P  P  P    SE  SE  P  P          P P P 

Occupation1  

Residential 
Type  

Mobile 
Home Park  

      SE3                                  

Multifamily 
Dwelling  

    SE2  
P4 

/SE32  
P            SE2  P2  P23        P P P P 

Single-
family 
Dwelling, P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P    P  P  P  P        P P P P 

Detached  

Single-
family 
Dwelling,     SE2  SE2  P  P  P  P      SE2  P2  P2        P P P P 

Attached  

Two-family 
dwelling  

    SE2  P  P                            P P 

Accessory 
Dwelling 
Unit 

P34 P34 P34 P34 P34 P34 P34 P34  P34 P34 P34 P34        

 

Page 176

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 4 of 15 

 

SECTION 3. That Chapter 117 Section 117-3(c) shall be amended as follows:  
 

(c)  Permitted use table footnotes. 

P - Permitted. SE—Allowed by Special Exception. 

1. Subject to the conditions set forth in section 117-789. 

2. Single-family attached dwellings, up to four units. 

3. Subject to the conditions in section 117-122(4)(a)—(j). 

4. Multifamily dwelling units may omit garages through a special exception. 

5. Subject to development criteria in section 117-148. Each RRF parcel requires a PUD 

rezoning in compliance with section 117-421 in order to be developed. 

6. All permitted uses are subject to the conditions set forth in section 117-199. 

7. Subject to the limitations in section 117-200(7). 

8. Subject to the limitations in section 117-226. 

9. No kennels. Subject to the limitations in section 117-200(7). 

10. Musical instruments. Subject to the limitations in section 117-200(7). 

11. Including repair incidental to sales. Subject to the limitations in section 117-200(7). 

12. Not wholesale bakeries. Subject to the limitations in section 117-200(7). 

13. Subject to the limitations of section 117-226. 

14. Provided no manufacturing or storage for distribution is permitted on-premises. 

15.  Subject to the limitations outlined in section 117-228(10). 

16. Light manufacturing, processing (including food processing but not slaughterhouse), 

packaging or fabricating. 

17. Bulk storage yards, not including bulk storage of flammable liquids. 

18. Race tracks for animals or vehicles. 

19. Plumbing, electrical, mechanical, and sheet metal. 

20. All uses must be in a totally enclosed building and no more than 20 percent of floor space 

to be devoted to storage. The permitted uses per section 117-540 are subject to the limitations 

in section 117-541(5)(b). 

21. Automobile rental not included as a use permitted by special exception. 

22. Establishments or facilities for automobile parts, sales, and service without use of an 

outdoor intercom or public address system or speakers, and no vehicle display racks that tilt 

vehicles in any way to show underside, unless they are located inside a show room. 

23. Through special exception, multifamily dwelling units can be built without garages. 

24. Rentals, excluding heavy equipment. 

25. Veterinarian clinics within enclosed buildings. 

26. The following are permitted uses in the institutional land use category, institutional zoning 

category: Any lawful civic, governmental, religious, public utility, and other public necessity 

uses or activities. 

27. Subject to the limitations of section 117-297(5). 

28. Golf courses and pro shop allowed by special exception. 

29. Pursuant to section 117-355: Allowable uses are public recreation uses that are compatible 

with the environmental characteristics of the property and, if purchased with grant funds, are 

consistent with grant conditions. No development potential is associated with these lands; 

however, recreation facilities may be constructed as a part of recreation uses that are consistent 

with the land use category. 

30. Subject to the conditions in section 117-796. 

31. Beer and wine sales only. 

32. Multifamily dwellings greater than 35 feet in building height. 

33. Drive-through facility in conjunction with this use is not allowed. 

34. Subject to the requirements of Section 117-798 

 

Page 177

Item #6.

https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTXISURE_S117-789HOOC
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIRE_DIV4REHIDEZOCA_S117-122SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIRE_DIV5RIRELAUSZOCA_S117-148DECR
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTVIIPLUNDE_S117-421COPRSU
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV2REPROFLAUSRPREPROFRPZOCA_S117-199COLIPEUS
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV2REPROFLAUSRPREPROFRPZOCA_S117-200SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV3COMEINLAUSCMNECOZOCA_S117-226IN
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV2REPROFLAUSRPREPROFRPZOCA_S117-200SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV2REPROFLAUSRPREPROFRPZOCA_S117-200SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV2REPROFLAUSRPREPROFRPZOCA_S117-200SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV2REPROFLAUSRPREPROFRPZOCA_S117-200SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV3COMEINLAUSCMNECOZOCA_S117-226IN
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIIICO_DIV3COMEINLAUSCMNECOZOCA_S117-228SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIXGACO_DIV4GACONEGCZOCA_S117-540PEUS
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIXGACO_DIV4GACONEGCZOCA_S117-541SPEX
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTIVIN_DIV2LIINDI_S117-297PEUS
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTVRECO_S117-355RE
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTXISURE_S117-796EMSH


Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 5 of 15 
 

SECTION 4. That Chapter 117 Section 117-5 be amended as follows: 
 

Sec. 117-5. Enclosed garages required for all residential dwelling units.  

All residential dwelling units within the city in any land use district or zoning 

category shall have an attached or detached enclosed garage of at least ten feet by 20 

feet unless otherwise provided in this Code. Additional conditions and exceptions 

are as follows:   

(1) The requirement for garages may be eliminated in multifamily dwelling units 

with a special exception or by rezoning the property to a PUD. This requirement 

shall apply to all new construction.   

(2) All existing carports as of the date of adoption of the ordinance from which this 

chapter is derived in any residential zoning district shall be allowed. This shall not 

require construction of a garage at these properties. The size of a carport cannot be 

increased or another carport constructed on the site. A carport of the same size can 

be rebuilt on the site if it is destroyed by a calamity, such as fire or wind.   

(3) Remodeling of an existing dwelling unit, including enclosing a carport to living 

space, without a garage would not trigger constructing a garage. This would also 

include remodeling of an existing dwelling unit without a garage that increases the 

square footage.   

(4) Converting an existing garage into living space is not permitted, unless a garage 

is added to site.   

(5) Adding a carport to an existing residential site that has a garage is not permitted.   

(6) New carports except as set forth in subsection (2) of this section, cannot be 

constructed in the city.   

(7) Existing carports are permitted to be converted to a garage or living space.  

(8) New and redevelopment of a residential dwelling for Affordable Housing for 

Low and Very Low Income persons as defined in Section 105-7 shall be exempt 

from this requirement In order to apply for this exemption, an applicant shall submit 

an application meeting the requirements set forth in Section 105-17 (b) or 

confirmation that the residential new construction shall be funded pursuant to a 

governmental affordable housing program for low and very low income 

persons.         

 

Page 178

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 6 of 15 
 

SECTION 5. That Chapter 117 Section 117-6(a) LIVING AREA (Minimum square feet) be amended as follows: 
 

Sec. 117-6. - Lot requirements table. 

(a) Lot requirements table. 

 

  R-1  R-1A  R-2  R-3  RPO  C-1  C-2  REC  
GCR2 

RLD  
GCR2 

RMD  
GCN  GCC  INS  M-1  M-2  FBC1 

                                Downtown Primary Secondary Transition 

LIVING AREA (Minimum square feet):  

  

Single-family 
dwelling unit, 
detached  

1250 
900 

1250 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

  
1250 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

        1000 900 1000 900 1000 900 

Single-family 
dwelling unit, 
attached  

    
1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

1000 
900 

    
1000 
900 

1000 
900 

750               

Multi-family 
dwelling unit  

      
1000 
900 

              
1000 
900 

              

Mobile Home 
Park/Subdivision  

      NMR                                

Nonresidential 
uses  

        NMR  NMR  NMR  NMR      NMR  NMR  NMR  NMR  NMR          

 

Page 179

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 7 of 15 
 

SECTION 6. That Chapter 117 Section 117-61 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-61. - Permitted uses. 

The following are permitted uses in the residential low density land use, R-1 zoning 

category: 

 

(1) Single-family detached dwellings; 

(2) Golf courses and country clubs, with customary accessory uses; 

(3) Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not exceeding 

the duration of the building permit; 

(4) Customary accessory buildings and structures, including portable or temporary 

buildings, private garages and noncommercial greenhouses and workshops, 

provided they are located in the rear yard and are not closer than three feet to the 

rear property line, and meet the side yard requirements of the district; 

(5) Portable storage units for onsite storage meeting the requirements and conditions 

referenced in section 117-794; 

(6) Additional Dwelling Units (ADUs) subject to the requirements of Section 117-

798. 

 

SECTION 7. That Chapter 117 Section 117-63 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-63. - Density controls. 

Density controls in the residential low density land use, R-1 zoning category shall be 

as follows: 

(1) Minimum required lot area: 7,000 square feet; 

 
(2) Minimum required lot width: 70 feet; 

(3) Minimum required front yard: 20 feet; 

(4) Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

(5) Minimum required side yard: Ten feet; 

(6) Minimum living area: 1,250 900 square feet, together with an attached or 

detached enclosed garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. Attached garages shall 

be architecturally integrated into the design of the dwelling and structurally 

connected; 

(7) Maximum lot coverage: 35 percent; 

(8) Maximum structure heights: 35 feet. 

 

Page 180

Item #6.

https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/10857/459221/117-63.png


Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 8 of 15 
 

SECTION 8. That Chapter 117 Section 117-71 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-71. - Permitted uses. 

The following are permitted uses in the residential low density land use, R-1A zoning 

category: 

(1) Single-family detached dwellings; 

(2) Golf courses and country clubs, with customary accessory uses; 

(3) Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 

exceeding the duration of the building permit; 

(4) Customary accessory buildings and structures, including portable or temporary 

buildings, private garages and noncommercial greenhouses and workshops, 

provided they are located in the rear yard and are not closer than three feet to 

the rear property line, and meet the side yard requirements of the district; 

(5) Portable storage units for onsite storage meeting the requirements and 

conditions referenced in section 117-794; 

(6) Additional Dwelling Units (ADUs) subject to the requirements of Section 117-

798. 

 

SECTION 9. That Chapter 117 Section 117-73 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-73. - Density controls. 

Density controls in the residential low density land use, R-1A zoning category shall 

be as follows: 

(1) Minimum required lot area: 5,000 square feet; 

 
(2) Minimum required lot width: 50 feet; 

(3) Minimum required front yard: 20 feet; 

(4) Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

(5) Minimum required side yard: Seven feet, six inches; 

(6) Minimum living area: 1,250 900 square feet, together with an attached or 

detached enclosed garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. Attached garages shall 

be architecturally integrated into the design of the dwelling and structurally 

connected; 

(7) Maximum lot coverage: 35 percent; 

(8) Maximum structure heights: 35 feet. 

Page 181

Item #6.

https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTXISURE_S117-794POSTUN
https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/10857/459221/11773.png


Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 9 of 15 
 

 

SECTION 10. That Chapter 117 Section 117-88 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-88. - Density controls. 

(a) Detached dwellings. The density controls for detached dwellings in the 

residential medium density land use, R-2 zoning category shall be as follows: 

 
(1) Minimum required lot area: 5,000 square feet; 

(2) Minimum required lot width: 50 feet; 

(3) Minimum required front yard: 20 feet; 

(4) Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

(5) Minimum required side yard: Seven feet, six inches; 

(6) Minimum required living area: 1,000 900 square feet together with an 

attached or detached garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. Attached garages 

shall be architecturally integrated into the design of the dwelling and 

structurally connected; 

(7) Maximum lot coverage: 35 percent; 

(8) Maximum structure height: 35 feet. 

(b) Attached dwellings. The density controls for attached dwellings in the 

residential medium density land use, R-2 zoning category shall be as follows: 

(1) Minimum required lot area: 

a. Two-family: 8,500 square feet; 

b. Three-family: 12,500 square feet; 

c. Four-family: 16,500 square feet; 

(2) Minimum required lot width: 

a. Two-family: 75 feet; 

b. Three-family: 100 feet; 

c. Four-family: 150 feet; 

(3) Minimum required front yard: 20 feet; 

(4) Minimum required side yard: Ten feet or ten percent of lot width, 

whichever is greater; 

(5) Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

(6) Minimum required living area: 1,000 900 square feet; 

(7) Maximum lot coverage: 35 percent; 

Page 182

Item #6.

https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/10857/459221/117-88.png


Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 10 of 15 
 

(8) Maximum structure height: 35 feet. 

 

SECTION 11. That Chapter 117 Section 117-123 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-123. - Density controls. 

Density controls in the residential high density, R-3 zoning category shall be as 

follows: 

(1) For single-family dwellings in the residential medium density, R-2 zoning 

category: 

 
a. Minimum required lot area: 5,000 square feet; 

b. Minimum required lot width: 50 feet; 

c. Minimum required front yard: 20 feet; 

d. d.Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

e. Minimum required side yard: Seven feet, six inches; 

f. Minimum required living area: 1,000 900 square feet together with an 

attached or detached garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. Attached garages 

shall be architecturally integrated into the design of the dwelling and 

structurally connected; 

g. Maximum lot coverage: 35 percent; 

h. Maximum structure height: 35 feet. 

(2) For two-family dwellings: 

 

Page 183

Item #6.

https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/10857/459221/117-123-1.png
https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/10857/459221/117-123-2.png


Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 11 of 15 
 

a. Minimum required lot area: 7,500 square feet; 

b. Minimum required lot width: 70 feet; 

c. Minimum required front yard: 20 feet; 

d. Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

e. Minimum required side yard: Seven feet, six inches; or ten percent of the 

lot width, whichever is greater; 

f. Minimum required living area: 700 square feet per family; 

g. Maximum lot coverage: 35 percent; 

h. Maximum structure height: 35 feet. 

(3) For multiple-family dwellings: 

a. Minimum required lot area: 7,500 square feet for the first two dwelling 

units and 2,700 square feet for each additional unit that is added; 

b. Minimum required lot width: 100 feet; 

c. Minimum required front yard: 30 feet; 

d. Minimum required rear yard: 20 feet for the first two stories. For each story 

in excess of two, the required rear yards shall be increased by five feet for 

each story so added; 

e. Minimum required side yard on each side of the structure: Not less than ten 

feet for the first two stories. For each story in excess of two, the required 

side yards shall be increased by five feet for each story so added; 

f. Minimum required living areas: 

1. Efficiency apartment: 800 square feet; 

2. One bedroom apartment: 800 square feet; 

3. Two bedroom apartment: 900 square feet; 

4. Three or more bedroom apartment: 900 square feet plus an additional 

100 square feet for each bedroom over two bedrooms; 

g. Maximum lot coverage: 40 percent; 

h. Maximum structure height: 35 feet. 

(4) For mobile home parks and mobile home subdivisions: 

a. Minimum site area: Ten acres; 

b. Maximum gross density: Six units per acre; 

c. Minimum required site width: 100 feet on a public street; 

d. Minimum yard requirements: Front, 15 feet; side, 7.5 feet; rear, ten feet; 

e. Maximum site coverage: 40 percent; 

f. Maximum structure height: 35 feet. 

(5) All residential dwelling units shall have an attached or detached garage of at 

least ten feet by 20 feet. Attached garages shall be architecturally integrated 

into the design of the dwelling and structurally connected. 

 

SECTION 12. That Chapter 117 Section 117-146 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-146. - Permitted uses. 

The following are permitted uses in the residential riverfront, RRF land use category: 

(1) Single-family attached and detached dwelling units; 

(2) Duplexes; 

(3) Multifamily dwelling units with or without garages; 

Page 184

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 12 of 15 
 

(4) Churches; 

(5) Additional Dwelling Units (ADUs) subject to the requirements of Section 

117-798. 

 

SECTION 13. That Chapter 117 Section 117-540 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-540. - Permitted uses. 

 

The following and any determined similarly like or type uses not specifically described 

below are permitted uses in the gateway corridor neighborhood zoning category. All 

uses must be in a totally enclosed building: 

(1) Professional and storage offices; 

(2) Retail and repair establishments limited to the following: antique shops, art 

galleries or studios, art supplies, barbershops and beauty shops, book and 

stationery shops, cameras and photographic supplies, cigar or smoke shops, 

lock shops, convenience stores (not including gas pumps), drapery shops, 

financial institutions without drive-through facilities, florist shops, funeral 

homes, gift shops, gun sales and repair, hobby and craft shops, interior 

decorating, jewelry stores, leather shops, locksmiths, luggage shops, museums, 

office and/or business machines, office and/or business supplies, newsstands, 

opticians, paint and wallpaper stores, professional offices, shoe repair stores, 

tailor and/or dressmaker shops, watch repair and pawn shops; 

(3) Restaurants without drive-through facilities; 

(4) Retail outlets for the sale of food, drugs, including medical marijuana treatment 

center dispensing facilities, sundries and notions; 

(5) Single-family detached dwelling units; 

(6) Single-family attached dwellings, up to four units; 

(7) Churches; 

(8) Pre-school and child care centers; and 

(9) Home occupations. 

(10) Additional Dwelling Units (ADUs) subject to the requirements of Section 

117-798. 

 

SECTION 13. That Chapter 117 Section 117-542 be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 117-542. - Density controls. 

 

Density controls in the gateway corridor neighborhood zoning category shall be as 

follows: 

(1) Detached dwellings. The density controls for detached dwellings in the 

gateway corridor neighborhood zoning category shall be as follows: 

a. Minimum required lot area: 5,000 square feet; 

b. Minimum required lot width: 50 feet; 

c. Minimum required front yard: Ten feet; 

d. Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

e. Minimum required side yard: Five feet; 

Page 185

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 13 of 15 
 

f. Minimum required living area: 1,000 900 square feet with an enclosed 

garage of at least ten feet by 20 feet. Attached garages shall be 

architecturally integrated into the design of the dwelling and structurally 

connected; detached garages in the rear of the property are permitted; 

g. Minimum pervious surface: 40 percent; 

h. Maximum structure height: 35 feet; 

i. Maximum number of stories: Three. 

(2) Attached dwellings. The density controls for attached dwellings in the gateway 

corridor neighborhood zoning category shall be as follows: 

a. Minimum required lot area: 

1. Two-family: 8,500 square feet; 

2. Three-family: 12,500 square feet; 

3. Four-family: 16,500 square feet; 

b. Minimum required lot width: 

1. Two-family: 75 feet; 

2. Three-family: 100 feet; 

3. Four-family: 150 feet; 

c. Minimum required front yard: Ten feet; 

d. Minimum required side yard: Ten feet; 

e. Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

f. Minimum required living area: 1,000 900 square feet; 

g. Minimum pervious surface: 30 percent; 

h. Maximum structure height: 35 feet; 

i. Maximum number of stories: Three. 

(3) Commercial and professional offices. The density controls for commercial and 

professional offices in the gateway corridor neighborhood zoning category 

shall be as follows: 

a. Minimum required lot area: None; 

b. Minimum required lot width: None; 

c. Minimum required front yard: Ten feet; 

d. Minimum required rear yard: Ten feet; 

e. Minimum required side yard: Ten feet; 

f. Minimum pervious surface: 30 percent; 

g. Maximum structure height: 35 feet. The maximum height may be increased 

to 50 feet. The building must be tiered back one foot for every foot over 35 

feet; 

h. Maximum number of stories: Three. 
 

SECTION 15. That Chapter 117 Section 117-798 be created as follows: 

 

Section 117-798.  Accessory Dwelling Units  

(a) Residential accessory dwelling units shall be a permitted use in all residential 

zoning districts subject to the following criteria: 

1. Accessory dwelling units may only be located on property that is subject to an 

existing homestead exemption or on property that meets the requirements for 

a homestead exemption which the property owner has applied for through the 

Clay County Property Appraiser's Office with the expectation that the 

Page 186

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 14 of 15 
 

exemption will be granted. 

2. The unit shall be developed in conjunction with or after development of the 

principal dwelling unit and the owner of the property must reside within either 

the principal or the accessory dwelling unit. 

3. Accessory dwelling units shall provide additional parking to the primary 

residence pursuant to the parking requirements for single family homes as set 

forth in Sec. 113-157 Off Street Parking requirements matrix in the City Land 

Development Code.   

4. No accessory dwelling unit shall be sold separately from the principal dwelling 

unit.  

5. The gross floor area of the accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 50 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal structure, The accessory dwelling unit 

shall be no less than 200 square feet of air-conditioned floor area. 

6. The accessory dwelling unit can be attached or detached to the primary 

residence.  Accessory dwelling units attached to the principal structure shall be 

physically separated from said structure so as to prevent direct, internal access 

between the primary structure and the accessory dwelling units.  Detached 

accessory dwelling units shall be behind the primary structure adjacent to all 

roadway frontages and comply with the setback requirements for a primary 

residence in the underlying zoning district and shall not exceed the height of 

the primary structure.   

7. The accessory dwelling unit combined with the primary residence and other 

structures shall meet the density requirements of the underlying zoning district 

with the exception that the minimum lot area must be 7,500 square feet. 

8. The accessory dwelling unit shall have independent utility meters from the 

primary dwelling. 

9. An accessory dwelling unit shall be treated as a townhome unit for impact fees. 

10. A certification in the permit application for requests to construct an accessory 

dwelling units shall be provided that requires the applicant to certify whether 

their property is part of a deed restricted community or subject to a 

homeowner's, neighborhood or master association and, if answered in the 

affirmative, that the applicant has confirmed an accessory dwelling units are 

allowed under the deed restrictions and/or rules of the homeowner's, 

neighborhood or master association, as applicable. 

 

SECTION 10. EFFECTIVE DATE. Upon its adoption by the City Council, this 

ordinance shall become effective immediately. 

 

  

Page 187

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-05-2025 

Page 15 of 15 
 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 1st DAY OF APRIL, 

2025. 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 
         

Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 
 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 
 
 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION 

THIS 15th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 
         

Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 
 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 188

Item #6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing – Fair Housing presentation to support application for a grant in the 23-24 

CDBG Grant cycle. Mike Null and Melissa Fox, Fred Fox Enterprises 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City has secured the services of Fred Fox Enterprises to submit a grant application in the 23-24 

Communities Development Block Grant (CDBG) cycle.  This fair housing presentation is part of the 

qualification and scoring process of the application.   

FISCAL IMPACT 

TBD  

RECOMMENDATION 

N/A 

 

Page 189

Item #7.



FAIR HOUSING1

Equal Opportunity for All

Page 190

Item #7.



2
Fair Housing Act: 

What Does it Do?

42 U.S.C. Prohibits 
discrimination in 
housing-related 
transactions, 
including the sale, 
rental, or financing 
of dwellings. 
Discrimination 
includes refusing 
to rent to 
someone, steering 
someone away to 
a particular type of 
housing or 
neighborhood, 
enacting zoning 
measures to 
exclude particular 
groups etc., 
because of 
membership in a 
protected class.

Page 191

Item #7.



Protected 

Classes

3

 Race 

 Color

 Religion

 National Origin

 Sex

 Familial status 
(including children 
under the age of 18 
living with parents or 
legal custodians; 
pregnant women and 
people securing 
custody of children 
under 18)

 Disability

Page 192

Item #7.



What is Prohibited?

No one may take any of the following actions based on race, color, 

religion, sex, disability, familial status, or national origin:

• Refuse to rent or sell housing

• Refuse to negotiate for housing

• Set different terms, conditions or privileges for sale or rental of a

dwelling

• Falsely deny that housing is available for inspection, sale or rental 

• For profit, persuade, or try to persuade homeowners to sell or

rent dwellings by suggesting that people of a particular race, age, sex, 

etc. have moved, or are about to move into the neighborhood or

• Deny any person access to, membership or participation

in, any organization, facility or service related to the sale or rental of   

dwellings

4

Page 193

Item #7.



It is unlawful to 

discriminate 

against a person 

whose household 

includes one or 

more children who 

are under 18 years 

of age “Familial 

Status” in which 

one or minor 

children live with a 

parent or legal 

custodian.

Housing Protection for Families with 

Children 5

Page 194

Item #7.



Additional Protection If You Have a 

Disability

• Have a physical or mental disability (including hearing, mobility

and visual impairments, cancer, chronic mental illness or HIV/

AIDS) that substantially limits one or more major life activities; or

• Are regarded as having such a disability, a housing

provider may not:

- Refuse to let you make reasonable modifications to your

dwelling  at your expense (a landlord may permit changes

only if you agree to restore the property to its original 

condition when you move.)

Example: A building with a “no pets” policy must 

allow a visually impaired tenant to keep a guide dog.

6

Page 195

Item #7.



7
What Housing is Exempt?

 The Federal Fair Housing Act exempts owner-occupied buildings 

with no more than four units and single-family housing sold or 

rented without the use of a broker.

 Senior Housing Exemption- exempts some senior housing 

facilities and communities from liability for familial status 

discrimination. 

 Provided under any State or Federal program that HUD 

has determined to be specifically designed and 

operated to assist elderly persons  or

 Intended for, and solely occupied by persons 55 or 62 

years of age or older.

Page 196

Item #7.



If You Think Your Rights Have Been 

Violated, you can contact the following:

FLORIDA COMMISSION ON HUMAN RELATIONS

Phone: (850) 488-7082

Toll-Free: 1-800-342-8170

Website: http://fchr.state.fl.us

US DEPT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

SOUTHEAST REGIONAL OFFICE:   

(Complaints_office_04@hud.gov)

Five Points Plaza

40 Marietta Street, 16th Floor

Atlanta, GA 30303-2808

Phone: (404) 331-5140 

Toll-Free:  1-800-440-8091 x2493

US DEPT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity

451 7th Street, S.W., Room 5204, 

Washington, DC 20410-2000

Phone:  1-800-669-9777

* TTY 1-800-927-9275

Website: www.hud.gov/fairhousing

8

Page 197

Item #7.



What you will need to provide: 9

 Your name and address

 The name and address of the person your complaint is 

against(the respondent)

 The address or other identification of the housing involved

 A short description of the alleged violation (the event that 

caused you to believe your rights were violated)

 The date(s) of the alleged violation.

Your local ordinance includes steps and time limits in 

which complaints must be submitted and responses 

must be provided.

Page 198

Item #7.



What Happens When You File A Complaint?

• The office receiving the complaint will notify the person filing the complaint 

and the alleged violator (respondent) of the filing of your complaint and allow 

the respondent time to submit a written answer to the complaint.

• Investigate your complaint and determine whether there is reasonable 

cause to believe that the respondent violated the Fair Housing Act.

• Notify you and the respondent if HUD cannot complete its investigation 

within 100 days of filing your complaint and provide reason for the delay.

Fair Housing Act Conciliation: During the complaint investigation, HUD is 

required to offer you and the respondent the opportunity to voluntarily resolve 

your complaint with a Conciliation Agreement.

10

Page 199

Item #7.



11

Page 200

Item #7.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing – First Public Hearing to support application for a grant in the 23-24 CDBG 

Grant cycle. Mike Null and Melissa Fox, Fred Fox Enterprises 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City has secured the services of Fred Fox Enterprises to submit a grant application in the 23-24 

Communities Development Block Grant (CDBG) cycle.  This first public hearing is part of the qualification 

and scoring process of the application.  Council will be asked to direct staff to move forward with a specific 

project at the end of the presentation. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

TBD  

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on Council direction 

 

Page 201

Item #8.



CITY 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS

2023-2024 CDBG GRANT APPLICATION  

FIRST PUBLIC HEARING  

APRIL 1, 2025 AT 6:00 P.M.   

1

Page 202

Item #8.



City of Green Cove Springs

Community Development Block Grant  (CDBG)  

Application Process

CDBG Categories:

1. Housing Rehabilitation – Rehab/replacement of owner occupied Low to Moderate 

Income (LMI) homes.

2. Commercial Revitalization – Streetscape, Sidewalks, Pedestrian Malls, Building 

Façade work, etc. to the Downtown Commercial Area. Town/Service Area needs to be a 

minimum of 51% LMI 

3. Neighborhood Revitalization- Infrastructure items in residential LMI areas. 

Examples – water line repair/replacement, sewer line repair/replacement, water system 

improvements, sewer system improvements, paving, drainage, parks, community center, 

etc.  Beneficiaries must be at minimum 51% LMI for Application Threshold

4. Economic Development – Provide infrastructure on Town easement/property to 

facilitate a new business coming into the Town or the expansion of an existing business.   

Business must create new long-term jobs and be included as the developer in the 

application. The maximum that may be applied for in this category is $ 1,500,000.00.  

One full time equivalent new job must be created for each $34,999.99 being requested

2

Page 203

Item #8.



FY 2024 Income Limits Documentation System
FY 2024 Income Limits Summary

3
Green Cove Springs, Florida

FY 2024 Income 

Limit Area
Median Income FY 2024 Income 

Limit Category
1 Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 Person 6 Person 7 Person 8 Person

Jacksonville FL 

HUD, Metro FMR 

Area
$98,100

Extremely Low 

(30%) Income 

Limits 
$20,450 $23,400 $26,300 $31,200 $36,580 $41,960 $47,340 $52,720

Very Low (50%) 

Income Limits $34,100 $38,900 $43,800 $48,650 $52,550 $56,450 $60,350 $64,250

Low (80%) 

Income Limits $54,500 $62,300 $70,100 $77,850 $84,100 $90,350 $96,550 $102,800

Page 204

Item #8.



Additional Points in Application:

4 Leverage Points:

Each $2,000.00 of leverage results in 1 extra  point in final score 

of the application. Maximum of  25 points or $50,000.00. Local 

community can exceed $50,000.00 towards projects but will not 

receive additional points for leverage over the 25 point 

maximum.

 Neighborhood Revitalization and Commercial Revitalization 

Projects Only:

Engineer stamped construction plans and specifications 

submitted with the application by the application deadline will 

receive an additional 50 points for being shovel ready. All 

permits must be submitted for prior to application submittal to 

obtain these points.

 Local Government will not be reimbursed for shovel ready 

design cost with CDBG funds, even if application

is funded.

Page 205

Item #8.



5

Steps 

Required in 

CDBG 

Application 

Process

1.) Appoint a Citizens Advisory Task Force 
(CATF)

2.) Advertise and hold a CATF meeting to 
discuss possible projects

3.) Advertise and hold a 1st Public Hearing.  
Obtain public comment and direction by 
City Council to move forward on 
determining a project.

4.) Advertise and hold a Fair Housing 
Workshop.

5.) Advertise and hold a 2nd Public Hearing to 
finalize the application.

Page 206

Item #8.



Open for Public Comment

6

Page 207

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council  MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Gustafson Park Development Agreement with Clay County Utility Authority 

(CCUA) 

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Halff Associates, Inc. OWNER: City of Green Cove Springs 

PROPERTY LOCATION: County Road 15A 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016515-008-01 

CURRENT ZONING:  Recreation and Conservation   

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Public  

SURROUNDING EXISTING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: R-1 

Use: Single Family Housing 

SOUTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: PUD 

Use:  Single Family Housing 

EAST: FLU: Industrial  

Z: MUH 

Use: Vacant Non-Residential 

WEST: FLU: Industrial (County)  

Z: Heavy Industrial 

Use: Industrial/Maufacturing 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant has submitted a Development Agreement between the City and CCUA regarding the 

water/sewer/reclaimed connection charges for the bathrooms to be installed in the first phase of the 

Gustafson Park project.  The charges include: 

 Water Capacity Charge 

 Alternative Water Supply Surcharge 
 SJWMD Black Creek Water Resource Charge 
 Wastewater Capacity Charge 
 Reclaimed Water Capacity Charge 
 Debt Service Charge 
 Meter Installation Charge  
 Plan Review Fee  

 Inspection Fee Recording Fee 

Page 208

Item #9.



The total fees to be paid to CCUA are $16,354.38.  These fees shall be paid by DR Horton.   

 

The City Council approved a Site Development Application for the development of Gustafson Park on 2.57 

acres of the parcel located east of County Road 15A for the development of two tennis courts, a parking 

lots and bathroom facilities on May 7, 2024. As set forth in Section 5D of the enclosed Rookery 

Development Agreement, a stipulation was included to require the developer that required the development 

of a park. Once the site is completed, it will be handed over to the City of Green Cove Springs for future 

maintenance. This is the first phase of a larger regional park development.            

Development Description 

The application is for the development of 2 tennis courts and a parking lot. There will be a prefabricated 

restroom facility on the site.  The remaining site will be used for a detention pond and accompanying 

drainage ditches.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209

Item #9.



Attachments Include: 

Gustafson Park CCUA Development Agreement 

Gustafson Park Site Plan 

Bathroom Building Detail 

Signed Rookery Development Agreement 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending approval of this request because the application complies with the requirements of 

the City’s Land Development and Comprehensive Plan and is compatible with the surrounding 

neighborhood. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

Motion to approve the Development Agreement regarding the utility fee payments to CCUA regarding the 

Development of the first phase of Gustafson Park to the East of County Road 15A on a portion of parcel 

016515-008-01.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 

Page 210

Item #9.



  
 
 

GUSTAFSON PARK – TENNIS COURT 
RESTROOMS - 1755 PEARCE BLVD. 

                                                                                                  (Green Cove Springs System)  
Parcel No. 38-06-26-016515-008-01                                       Name of Project 
Clay County 

DEVELOPER AGREEMENT 
 

THIS DEVELOPER AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), made and entered into this    day of 
   , 2025 by and between the CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, a 
municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as "Developer," and CLAY COUNTY UTILITY 
AUTHORITY, an independent special district established under Chapter 94-491, Laws of Florida, Special 
Acts of 1994, hereinafter referred to as "Utility." 
 

WHEREAS, Developer owns or controls lands located in Clay County, Florida, and described in 
Exhibit "A", attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (hereinafter "Property"); 
 

WHEREAS, Developer desires that the Utility provide central potable water, pumping, treatment, 
and distribution service; central wastewater collection, treatment, and disposal; and central reclaimed water 
service for the Property; 
 

WHEREAS, the Utility is willing to provide, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, 
central water, wastewater, and reclaimed water service to the Property and thereafter operate applicable 
facilities so that the occupants of the improvements on the Property will receive adequate potable water, 
wastewater, and reclaimed water service from the Utility; and 
 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to enter into this Agreement setting forth their mutual understandings 
and undertakings regarding the furnishing of potable water, wastewater, and reclaimed water service by the 
Utility to the Developer's Property. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises, the mutual undertakings and 
agreements herein contained and assumed, Developer and Utility hereby covenant and agree as follows: 
 

1. The foregoing statements are true and correct. 
 

2. The following definitions and references are given for the purpose of interpreting the terms as 
used in this Agreement and apply unless the context indicates a different meaning: 
 

(a) "Consumer Installation" - All facilities ordinarily on the consumer's side of the point 
of delivery. 
 

(b) "Contribution-in-Aid-of-Construction (CIAC)" - The sum of money and/or the value 
of Property represented by the cost of the wastewater collection system, potable water distribution system, 
and reclaimed water distribution system constructed or to be constructed which Developer or owner 
transfers, or agrees to transfer, to Utility, if so designated by the Utility, at no cost to Utility to provide utility 
service to the Property.  

 
(c) "Equivalent Residential Connection (ERC)" - A factor expressed in gallons per day 

(GPD) which is used to convert a given average daily flow (ADF) to the equivalent number of residential 
connections.  For this purpose the average daily flow of one potable water ERC is (450) GPD, one 
wastewater ERC is (311) GPD, and one reclaimed water ERC is (275) GPD. 

 
Return to: 
Clay County Utility Authority 
3176 Old Jennings Road 
Middleburg, Florida 32068-3907 

 
 
Return to: 
Clay County Utility Authority 
3176 Old Jennings Road 
Middleburg, Florida 32068-3907 

Page 211

Item #9.



-2- 

(d) "Point of Delivery" - The point where the pipes or meter of Utility are connected with 
the pipes of the consumer.  Point of delivery for potable water and reclaimed water service shall be at the 
consumer's side of the meter and for wastewater service at the lot or Property line.  Utility shall, according to 
the terms and conditions hereof, own all pipes and appurtenances to the point of delivery unless otherwise 
agreed.  The pipes and appurtenances inside the point of delivery shall belong to others. 
 

(e) "Service" - The readiness and ability on the part of Utility to furnish and maintain 
water, wastewater, and reclaimed water service to the point of delivery for each lot or tract pursuant to rules 
and regulations of applicable regulatory agencies. 
 

3. Assurance of Title - Developer represents and warrants that the Developer is the owner of the 
Property and has the legal right to grant the exclusive rights of service contained in this Agreement.  Upon 
request, Developer agrees to deliver to Utility evidence of such ownership including any outstanding 
mortgages, taxes, liens and covenants. 
 

4. Connection Charges - In addition to the contribution of any wastewater collection systems, 
potable water distribution systems, and reclaimed water systems where applicable, and further to induce 
Utility to provide potable water, wastewater service, and reclaimed water service, Developer hereby agrees 
to pay to Utility the following fees and charges, as defined in the Rate Resolution (including Service 
Availability Policy), upon execution of this Agreement in order to reserve capacity in the System: 
 

(a) Water Capacity Charge: 
($465.75 x 1.00 ERC )  $           465.75  * 

Alternative Water Supply Surcharge: 
($399.65 x 1.00 ERC) $           399.65  * 

SJWMD Black Creek Water Resource Charge: 
($103.66 x 1.00 ERC) $           103.66  * 

Wastewater Capacity Charge: 
($4,243.50 x 2.00 ERCs)  $        8,487.00  * 

Reclaimed Water Capacity Charge: 
($310.50 x 13.00 ERCs) $        4,036.50  ** 

(b) Debt Service Charge: 
($196.73 x 1.00 ERC) $           196.73  * 

(c) Main Extension Charge – Water $       N/A  
 Main Extension Charge – Wastewater $       N/A  
 Main Extension Charge – Reclaimed Water $       N/A  
(d) Fire Protection Charge $       N/A  
(e) Meter Installation Charge $        1,700.17  *** 
(f) Plan Review Fee      $           774.27 
(g) Inspection Fee       $           500.50 
(h) Recording Fee       $           145.24 

Total        $      16,809.47 
 

    * -  Includes 1.00 ERC for water service and 2.00 ERCs for wastewater service for the tennis 
court restroom building, based on the fixture unit count, all in accordance with Utility’s Rate 
Resolution. 

  ** -  Includes 13.00 ERCs for reclaimed irrigation water service for the property based on 
3,473.88 AGPD, all in accordance with Utility’s Rate Resolution. 

  *** - Includes one 1-inch potable water meter for the tennis court restroom building and one 1 1/2-
inch reclaimed water meter for landscape irrigation (without meter boxes). 

 
Note:  Items (f) and (g) are estimates and are subject to adjustment based on actual costs incurred. 

Page 212

Item #9.



-3- 

Payment of the above charges does not and will not result in Utility waiving any of its rates or rules 
and regulations and their enforcement shall not be affected in any manner whatsoever by Developer making 
payment of same.  Except as specifically stated, Utility shall not be obligated to refund to Developer any 
portion of the value of the above charges for any reason whatsoever nor shall Utility pay any interest upon 
the above charges paid. 
 

Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, neither Developer nor any person or other entity 
holding any of the Property by, through or under Developer, or otherwise, shall have any present or future 
right, title, claim or interest in and to the charges paid or to any of the potable water, reclaimed water, or 
wastewater facilities and properties of Utility, and all prohibitions applicable to Developer with respect to no 
refund of such charges, no interest payment on said charges and otherwise, are applicable to all persons or 
entities. 
 

Paid capacity or connection charges may not be applied to offset any service bill or other claims of 
Utility. 
 

5. On-Site Installations - On-site facilities are those located within the Property for which 
Developer is requesting service.  Developer shall convey to Utility, if so designated by Utility, all on-site 
water and wastewater lines, laterals, mains, lift stations, pump stations and appurtenant facilities 
(collectively referred to as "Components" or "On-Site System") on the Property with all contractual 
guarantees relating thereto.  Conveyance shall take place within a reasonable time after installation of the 
On-Site System but prior to Utility's obligation to provide service.  Until such time as the On-Site System is 
conveyed, the same shall be operated and maintained by Developer.  In its sole discretion, Utility may 
decline to accept the On-Site System, may lease the On-Site System from Developer, or agree to such other 
arrangement as it deems appropriate. 
 

Utility shall have the right and obligation, at the Developer's expense, to construct and/or approve the 
construction of the on-site installations which shall be owned and maintained by Utility, if so designated by 
Utility.  The Utility shall also have the right to review all plans and specifications, connections to its system 
and the Developer shall pay a fee equal to the Utility's actual cost to review such plans and specifications. 
The Utility shall have the right to inspect all phases of construction undertaken by outside contractors for 
facilities which are to be owned by the Utility, if so designated by Utility.  The Developer will reimburse the 
Utility for its costs for such inspection, including all overhead associated with same. Where on-site 
temporary pump stations or backflow prevention devices are required, they shall be paid for one hundred 
percent (100%) by the Developer without any provision for refund.  Utility reserves the right to require 
backflow prevention devices on all potable water service connections. 
 

The On-Site System shall be constructed in compliance with all regulatory requirements and the 
specifications and requirements of Utility.  No construction shall commence until Utility has reviewed and 
approved Developer's contractor and the plans and specifications for construction of the potable water, 
wastewater, and reclaimed water systems for the project.  The proposed electrical transformer layout of the 
electric utility providing service must be provided to the Utility prior to commencement of construction. 

 
Developer shall guarantee Utility against defects in material and workmanship for the portion of the 

On-Site System to be owned by the Utility or County, if so designated by Utility.  Developer shall secure 
from its contractor a written and fully assignable warranty that the system installed will be and remain free 
from all defects, latent or otherwise, with respect to workmanship, materials and installation in accordance 
with Utility-approved plans and specifications, for a period of two (2) years from the date of the system 
acceptance by the Utility, and immediately assign the same and the right to enforce the same to the Utility 
on or before such date.  The Developer shall also provide to the Utility, at Developer's sole expense, such 
maintenance bond and other form of security acceptable to Utility in such amounts approved by Utility, 
which by its or their express terms protect and indemnify Utility against any loss, damage, costs, claims, 
debts or demands by reason of defects, latent or otherwise, in the system to be and remain in effect for two 
(2) years from the date of the system acceptance by Utility. 

Page 213

Item #9.



-4- 

In addition to any other promises, guarantees or warranties to be provided by Developer to the Utility 
hereunder, Developer agrees to protect and indemnify Utility against any loss, damage, costs, claims, debts 
or demands by reason of defects, latent or otherwise, in the system which could not have been reasonably 
discovered upon normal engineering inspection, to be and remain in effect for a period of two (2) years from 
the date of the system's acceptance by Utility. 
 

Developer agrees to transfer to Utility, if so designated by Utility, title to all water distribution and 
wastewater collection systems installed by Developer or Developer's contractor, which the Utility has agreed 
shall be owned and maintained by it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and shall: 
 

(a) Deliver a Bill of Sale and No Lien Affidavit in a form acceptable to Utility for such potable 
water distribution, reclaimed water distribution, and wastewater collection systems. 
 

(b) Provide copies of invoices and Release of Liens from contractor for installation of the utility 
systems as well as for any repairs to the Systems which may have been caused by other subcontractors 
during construction. 
 

(c) Assign any and all warranties and/or maintenance bonds as set forth herein. 
 

(d) Provide all operations, maintenance and parts manuals, as-built plans complying with 
Utility's specifications, and other documents required for operation of the utility system. 
 

(e) Convey to Utility, if so designated by Utility, easements and/or rights-of-way covering all 
areas in which potable water, reclaimed water, and wastewater systems are installed, with adequate legal 
access to same, by recordable document satisfactory to Utility. 
 

(f) Convey to Utility, if so designated by Utility, by recordable document in form satisfactory to 
Utility, fee simple title to lift station and pump station sites, along with recordable ingress/egress easement 
documents. 
 

(g) Provide a copy of the Project Engineer's final certification of completion to the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection certifying installation of all potable water and wastewater facilities 
in accordance with approved plans. 

 
6. Off-Site Installations - Developer shall further construct all transmission mains, pump 

stations and appurtenant facilities necessary to connect the On-Site System to the nearest appropriate point 
in Utility's transmission system, as determined by Utility.  Utility may require Developer to oversize off-site 
transmission mains and appurtenant facilities in a manner consistent with Utility's Wastewater System 
Master Plan.  The costs associated with construction of over-sized facilities which provide Utility with 
excess capacity for the benefit of other properties may be subject to refundable advance treatment pursuant 
to Utility's Service Availability Policy.  The same construction standards, warranty requirements, 
maintenance bond requirements, transfer of title by Bill of Sale, and indemnification requirements, as 
provided under paragraph 5 of this Agreement, shall also apply to the Off-Site installations. 
 

7. Agreement to Serve - Upon the completion of construction of the On-Site and Off-Site 
Facilities by Developer, or an appropriate phase thereof, and compliance with the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement and Utility's Service Availability Policy, Utility will allow connection or oversee the 
connection of the wastewater collection facility, potable water distribution facility, and/or reclaimed water 
facility installed by Developer to the central facilities of Utility in accordance with all rules, regulations and 
orders of the applicable governmental authorities.  Utility agrees that once it provides potable water, 
reclaimed water, and/or wastewater service to the customers within the Property that it will continuously 
provide such service, at its cost and expense, but in accordance with the other provisions of this Agreement, 
the then current Rate Resolution in effect for Utility, and the requirements of the governmental authorities 
having jurisdiction over the operations of Utility.  Utility shall not be liable for any temporary interruptions 
in service as a result of equipment failure, emergencies or Act of God. 

Page 214

Item #9.



-5- 

The covenants and agreements of Developer contained in paragraphs 5, 6, and 7, hereof shall survive 
Utility's acceptance of any On-site and Off-site Facilities and Utility's commencement of service to the 
Property.  Should any such covenant or agreement of Developer in fact be outstanding following either or 
both of such dates, then, notwithstanding any contrary provision contained herein, Utility may, upon thirty 
(30) days advance written notice and demand for cure mailed to Developer, temporarily interrupt service to 
the Property until such outstanding covenant or agreement of Developer is satisfied in full.  Utility shall not 
be liable for any temporary interruptions in service as a result of any action authorized or permitted by this 
paragraph. 
 

8. Application for Service - Developer, or any owner of any parcel of the Property, or any 
occupant of any residence, building or unit located thereon shall not have the right to and shall not connect 
any consumer installation to the facilities of Utility until formal written application has been made to Utility 
by the prospective user of service, or either of them, in accordance with the then effective rules and 
regulations of Utility and approval for such connection has been granted. 
 

9. Easements - Developer hereby grants and gives to Utility, its successors and assigns, but 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, the exclusive right or privilege to construct, own, maintain and 
operate the potable water, wastewater, and reclaimed water facilities to serve the Property in, under, upon, 
over and across the present and future streets, roads, alleys, utility easements, reserved utility strips and 
utility sites.  Mortgagees, if any, holding prior liens on the Property shall be required to release such liens, 
subordinate their position or join in the grant or dedication of the easements or rights-of-way, or give to 
Utility assurance by way of a "non-disturbance agreement", that in the event of foreclosure, mortgagee 
would continue to recognize the easement rights of Utility.  All potable water, reclaimed water, and 
wastewater collection facilities, save and except installations owned by Developer, or its successors or 
assigns, shall be covered by easements or rights-of-way if not located within platted or dedicated roads or 
rights-of-way for utility purposes and there shall be adequate legal access to same. 

 
The use of easements granted by Developer to Utility shall not preclude the use by other utilities of 

these easements, such as for cable television, telephone, electric, or gas utilities.  However, the use of such 
non-exclusive easements by third parties shall not interfere with Utility's utilization of same.  Utility hereby 
agrees that all easement grants will be utilized in accordance with the established and generally accepted 
practices of the potable water, reclaimed water, and wastewater industry with respect to the installation of all 
its facilities in any of the easement areas. 
 

10. Utility's Exclusive Right to Utility Facilities - Developer agrees with Utility that all potable 
water, reclaimed water, and wastewater facilities accepted by Utility in connection with providing potable 
water, reclaimed water and wastewater services to the Property, shall at all times remain in the sole, 
complete and exclusive ownership of Utility, and any person or entity owning any part of the Property or 
any residence, building or unit constructed or located thereon, shall not have any right, title, claim or interest 
in and to such facilities or any part of them, for any purpose, including the furnishing of potable water, 
reclaimed water, and wastewater services to other persons or entities located within or beyond the limits of 
the Property. 
 

11. Exclusive Right to Provide Service - Developer shall not engage in the business of providing 
potable water services or sanitary wastewater services to the Property during the period of time Utility 
provides potable water and wastewater services to the Property.  Utility shall have the sole and exclusive 
right and privilege to provide potable water and wastewater services to the Property and to the occupants of 
such residence, building or unit constructed thereon. 
 

12. Rates - Utility agrees that the rates to be charged to Developer and individual consumers of 
water and wastewater services shall be those set forth in the then current Rate Resolution most recently 
adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the Clay County Utility Authority as may be amended from time to 
time. However, notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, Utility, its successors and assigns, may 
establish, amend or revise, from time to time in the future, and enforce in a reasonable manner, rates or rate 
schedules so established. 

Page 215

Item #9.



-6- 

Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, Utility may establish, amend or revise, from time 
to time, in the future, and enforce rules and regulations covering water and wastewater services to the 
Property. However, all such rules and regulations so established by Utility shall at all times be reasonable 
and subject to such regulations as may be provided by law or contract. 
 

13. Quality of Wastewater - No substance other than domestic wastewater will be placed into the 
sewage system and delivered to the lines of the Utility directly by the Developer. The Developer shall be 
required to install grease traps for all non-residential kitchen facilities and sand traps if floor drains are 
connected to the Utility's sanitary wastewater transmission system. Such installation shall be in accordance 
with the requirements of the Utility. Should any non-domestic wastes, grease or oils, including, but not 
limited to, floor wax, paint, chlorides, or salt water or any substances and materials which contain any 
hazardous, flammable, toxic, and/or industrial constituents, be directly delivered by Developer to the lines, 
of the Utility, Developer will be responsible for payment of the cost and expense required in correcting or 
repairing any resulting damage to the system or property of third parties. 

 
In the event Utility determines that the Property to be served poses a threat of introducing chlorides, 

salt water, or similar constituents into the collection or transmission system at levels determined by the 
Utility to be harmful to the wastewater system, including, but not limited to, the system's ability to provide 
effluent meeting reclaimed water standards as an irrigation supply source, the Utility has the right, in its 
reasonable discretion, to decline or discontinue service to such property or customer and to require such 
pretreatment or other measures as are necessary to protect the integrity of Utility's system and the ability to 
serve its members.  

 
14. Binding Effect of Agreement - This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 

benefit of Developer, Utility and their respective assigns and successors by merger, consolidation, 
conveyance or otherwise.  Any assignment or transfer by Developer shall be subject to Utility approval 
which shall not be unreasonably withheld provided the assignee or transferee shall acknowledge in writing 
that it assumes the duties and responsibilities of Developer as set forth in this Agreement. 
 

15. Notice - Until further written notice by either party to the other, all notices provided for 
herein shall be in writing and transmitted by messenger, by mail, or by electronic mail (email), and if to 
Developer, shall be mailed or delivered to Developer at: 
 

City of Green Cove Springs 
Attn: Steven Kelley 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

 
and if to the Utility at: 
 

Clay County Utility Authority 
3176 Old Jennings Road 
Middleburg, Florida 32068-3907 

 
or such other address as specified in writing by either party to the other. 
 

16. Laws of Florida - This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida and it 
shall be and become effective immediately upon execution by both parties hereto, subject to any approvals 
which must be obtained from governmental authority, if applicable. 

Page 216

Item #9.



-7- 

17. Costs and Attorney's Fees - In the event the Utility or Developer is required to enforce this 
Agreement by court proceedings, by instituting suit or otherwise, then venue shall lie in Clay County, 
Florida, and the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party all cost incurred, including 
reasonable attorney's fees. 

 
18. Force Majeure - In the event that the performance of this Agreement by either party is 

prevented or interrupted in consequence of any cause beyond the control of either party, including, but not 
limited to Act of God or of the public enemy, war, national emergency, allocation or of other governmental 
restrictions upon the use or availability of labor or materials, civil disorder, strike, embargo, natural disaster 
or catastrophe, unforeseeable failure or breakdown of transmission, treatment or other facilities, 
governmental rule, act, order, restriction, regulation, statute, ordinance, or order, decree, judgment, 
restraining order or injunction of any court, said party shall not be liable for such non-performance. 
 

19. Indemnification - Developer agrees to indemnify and hold the Utility harmless from and 
against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees) to 
which it may become subject by reason of or arising out of Developer's performance of this Agreement.  
This indemnification provision shall survive the actual connection to Utility's potable water, wastewater, and 
reclaimed water systems. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer does not waive its sovereign immunity 
or the monetary limits pursuant to section 768.28 Florida Statutes. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

20. The rights, privileges, obligations and covenants of Developer and Utility shall survive the 
completion of the work of Developer with respect to completing the facilities and services to any 
development phase and to the Property as a whole. 
 

21. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements or representations, either verbal or 
written, heretofore in effect between Developer and Utility, made with respect to the matters herein 
contained, and when duly executed, constitutes the agreement between Developer and Utility.  No additions, 
alterations or variations of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid, nor can provisions of this Agreement 
be waived by either party, unless such additions, alterations, variations or waivers are expressed in writing 
and duly signed. 
 

22. Whenever the singular number is used in this Agreement and when required by the context, 
the same shall include the plural, and the masculine, feminine and neuter genders shall each include the 
others. 
 

23. Whenever approvals of any nature are required by either party to this Agreement, it is agreed 
that same shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 
 

24. The submission of this Developer Agreement for examination by Developer does not 
constitute an offer but becomes effective only upon execution thereof by Utility. 
 

25. Failure to insist upon strict compliance of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions herein 
shall not be deemed a waiver of such terms, covenants, or conditions, nor shall any waiver or relinquishment 
of any right or power hereunder at any one time or times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of such right 
or power at any other time or times. 

Page 217

Item #9.



-8- 

26. It is because of inducements offered by Developer to Utility that Utility has agreed to provide potable 
water, reclaimed water, and wastewater services to Developer's project.  Capacity reserved hereunder cannot and 
shall not be assigned by Developer to Third Parties without the written consent of Utility, except in the case of a 
bona-fide sale of Developer's Property. 

 
27. Utility shall, as aforesaid, at all reasonable times and hours, have the right of inspection of 

Developer's internal lines and facilities.  This provision shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the 
Developer. 

 
28. The parties hereto recognize that prior to the time Utility may actually commence upon a program to 

carry out the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Utility may be required to obtain approval from various state 
and local governmental authorities having jurisdiction and regulatory power over the construction, maintenance, and 
operation of Utility.  The Utility agrees that it will diligently and earnestly make the necessary proper applications to 
all governmental authorities and will pursue the same to the end that it will use its best efforts to obtain such 
approval.  Developer agrees to provide necessary assistance to Utility in obtaining the approvals provided for herein. 
 Upon execution of this Agreement, Utility may require the payment of a reasonable fee to defray Utility's legal, 
engineering, accounting and administrative and contingent expense. 

 
29. It shall be Developer's responsibility to provide acceptable as-built drawings of the potable water, 

reclaimed water, and wastewater systems installed by Developer, in accordance with Utility's standard 
specifications, details and notes, which are to be accepted by Utility for ownership and maintenance, as set forth in 
paragraph 5(d) herein; and the Utility's charges associated with the review and quality assurance of the CAD as-built 
survey drawings will be paid directly by Developer's licensed underground utility contractor and shall be provided 
in accordance with CCUA’s “As-built Specifications Standards Manual”, which can be obtained from the Utility’s 
website (www.clayutility.org). It shall be Developer's responsibility to properly instruct Developer’s contractor to 
contact Utility for an estimate of such charges and clarification of the required as-built drawing procedures. 
 

30. It shall be Developer's responsibility or Developer's customers' responsibility, utilizing the project's 
potable water, reclaimed water, and wastewater service within Developer's project, to apply to Utility for service 
after the installation of the potable water, reclaimed water, and wastewater utilities have been completed and 
accepted by Utility.  Upon completion of the application for potable water, reclaimed water, and wastewater service 
and payment of the appropriate charges set forth in the Utility's then-current applicable Rate Resolution, including 
any security deposits required, service will be initiated to customers within Developer's Property. 
 

31. Developer shall not place any conservation easements over any of the easement lands that contain the 
Utility’s water, wastewater, or reclaimed facilities for the project covered by this Agreement. 
 

32. Developer shall grant an easement to Utility covering any portion of the potable water, reclaimed 
water, and wastewater facilities that Utility agrees to own and maintain, and Developer shall be responsible for 
providing the legal description for such easement to the Utility.  
 

33. The landscaping for this project (new or existing) shall not include the planting of any trees within 
seven and one-half feet (7 ft. 6 in.) of any of the water, wastewater, and/or reclaimed water mains to be owned by 
Utility. 
 

34. Connection to Utility’s proposed 8-inch water main and reclaimed main and the construction of the 
water and reclaimed water infrastructure, including services from the main to the meter locations, shall be installed 
by the Developers’ State of Florida Licensed Underground Utility Contractor and shall meet all of the requirements 
of Utility prior to Utility's acceptance for ownership and maintenance. 

Page 218

Item #9.



-9- 

 

Utility shall own and maintain all facilities upstream of the downstream side of the reclaimed water 
meter and potable water meter, and all facilities downstream of the downstream side of the reclaimed water 
meter and potable water meter shall be owned and maintained by the Developer. The water and reclaimed 
water installations shall be in accordance with the plans prepared by Halff Associates, Inc., Project Number 
037756.094, as described in Exhibit “B,” or as modified in a manner acceptable to Utility. The Utility shall 
have access to all of the water meters during normal business hours for meter reading purposes.   

 
35. Developer shall install or have installed a reduced pressure type backflow prevention device, 

which shall be located immediately downstream of Utility's 1-inch potable water meter for the tennis court 
restroom building. Such installation shall be in compliance with the requirements of the Florida Department 
of Health and Rehabilitative Services and Utility. Upon the completion of installation of said device, 
Developer shall provide to Utility for its permanent records, the Make, Model, Size, and Serial Number of 
said device. Furthermore, this device must be tested and recertified by a certified backflow prevention 
technician annually or such other period as may be required by Utility.  Proof of the annual testing and 
recertification must be submitted to Utility for its records.  This installation and annual recertification shall 
be the responsibility of the Developer or its successors and assigns. 

 
36. Developer shall connect to the Utility’s proposed 6-inch wastewater stub to the Property 

being installed as part of The Rookery Amenity Center project. All service lateral lines servicing 
Developer's Property, which are located upstream of the stub, shall be Developer's responsibility for 
ownership and maintenance. 

 
37. Developer shall install or have installed grit/sand trap interceptors (stainless steel sand 

screens) for each floor drain in the facilities, in accordance with Utility's requirements for same.  Developer 
shall also be responsible for the continued maintenance and cleaning of said grit/sand interceptors, and such 
interceptors shall be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by Utility.  Developer's maintenance staff 
shall assist Utility personnel by removing the floor drain grates for this inspection of the grit/sand collectors. 
Developer shall maintain records of maintenance and cleaning. Those records shall be made available to the 
Utility upon request. 
 

38. Air conditioning condensation discharge lines and any other piping that may intentionally or 
unintentionally drain stormwater shall not connect to Utility's wastewater system.  
 

39. The reclaimed water system for irrigation water service for the project shall not be installed 
near any pool or picnic areas, and all irrigation spray heads shall be positioned to prevent the reclaimed 
water from spraying on these areas. 
 

40. Developer shall be required to install an on-site irrigation system in full compliance with the 
Clay County Utility Authority's Applicable Excerpts from Clay County Utility Authority's Reclaimed Water 
Policy (see Exhibit "C" attached hereto) and shall operate and maintain the system in accordance with the 
rules and regulations of Utility, as well as all governmental agencies having jurisdiction over such reclaimed 
water system. 
 

41. All elements of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection rules and regulations 
regarding the use of reclaimed water within the project will be adhered to at all times.  This specifically 
pertains to the Public Notice (posting of signs) provisions of the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection rules and regulations, as well as all specific requirements pertaining to the use of reclaimed water 
in public areas and on roadways. 

Page 219

Item #9.



-10- 

 

42. No wells shall be permitted within or upon the Property for any reason. 
 
43. All irrigation contractors employed by Developer to install reclaimed water irrigation systems 

within the Property shall be registered with Utility. The criteria for registration are included in Utility's 
Cross-Connection Control Policy.  Once registered, such irrigation contractor shall comply completely with 
Utility's Cross-Connection Control Policy and Reuse Policy.  Cross-connection control inspections will not 
be conducted for irrigation contractors that are not registered with Utility. 
 

44. Developer and the Utility agree that the water, wastewater, and reclaimed water services to 
serve this project, Gustafson Park, are contingent upon the installation and final acceptance by Utility of the 
Rookery Amenity Center, Phase 1, The Rookery Subdivision, Phases 2A & 2B, and The Rookery Offsite 
Infrastructure. 

 
 45. This Agreement is specifically for the Gustafson Park – Tennis Court Restrooms, as shown 
on the design plans prepared by Halff Associates, Inc., Project Number 037756.094, as described in Exhibit 
“B,” titled Gustafson Park, dated May 6, 2024.  It does not include any other developments (future 
additions, phases) planned for this Property.  A separate agreement will be prepared for any additional 
requirements for future development on the Property when such development is initiated. 
 
 46. The construction of this project will not commence until receipt of all permits and 
easements, if necessary, and this Agreement is executed, and the charges stated herein are paid. 
 

47. This Agreement will need to be executed by Developer and the charges paid (shown on page 
2 of Agreement) prior to October 1, 2024, and the construction of the utilities shall commence prior to 
October 1, 2025, or this Agreement will be subject to any Service Availability charge increases currently 
approved, which may be applicable or which may be approved by Utility's Board of Supervisors for the next 
fiscal year beginning October 1, 2025; and this Agreement is subject to any material cost increases which 
Utility may experience after October 1, 2025. 
 

[Signatures Begin on Next Page]

Page 220

Item #9.



-11- 

X:\PROJECTS\Job Files\Current\2024-085 Gustafson Park - Tennis Court Restooms -1755 Pearce Blvd\C Developer Agreement\AGR.Gustafson Park .doc 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Developer and Utility have executed or have caused this Agreement, 
with the named Exhibits attached, to be duly executed in several counterparts, each of which counterpart 
shall be considered an original executed copy of this Agreement. 
 
WITNESSES:       DEVELOPER: 

       CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
       a municipal corporation of the State of Florida. 
        

Witness:        By:          
Print Name:                   Steven Kelley, Mayor 
 
 
Witness:        Attest: 
Print Name:                  
         Erin West, City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF       
COUNTY OF       
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ☒ physical presence or  online 
notarization this    day of    2025 by STEVEN KELLEY, as MAYOR of CITY 
OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, a municipal corporation of the State of Florida, who is 
personally known to me or who has produced      , as identification. 
 

        
Print Name:       

        Notary Public, State of _____________ at Large 
        My Commission Expires: 
 
 

Page 221

Item #9.



-12- 

X:\PROJECTS\Job Files\Current\2024-085 Gustafson Park - Tennis Court Restooms -1755 Pearce Blvd\C Developer Agreement\AGR.Gustafson Park .doc 

WITNESSES: UTILITY: 
CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY, 
an Independent Special District of the State of Florida  

 
 
Witness:       By:         
Print Name:        Jeremy D. Johnston, P.E., M.B.A. 

Executive Director 
 

(Corporate Seal) 
Witness:       
Print Name:       
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF CLAY 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ☒ physical presence or  online 
notarization this   day of      , 2025, by JEREMY D. JOHNSTON, as EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR of the CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY, an Independent Special District of the 
State of Florida, who is personally known to me. 
 
 

        
Print Name:        
Notary Public 
State of Florida at Large 
My Commission Expires: 

Page 222

Item #9.



 

GUSTAFSON PARK 
TENNIS COURT RESTROOMS 
1755 PEARCE BOULEVARD 
 
Parcel No. 38-06-26-016515-008-01 
Clay County, Florida  
 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 
PARCEL "B" 
 
A PARCEL OF LAND SITUATED IN A PORTION OF THE CLINCH ESTATE, AS PER PLAT THERE 
OF RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1 ON PAGES 31 THRU 34 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF CLAY 
COUNTY, FLORIDA; LYING IN THE CLARKE'S MILL GRANT; SECTION 38, TOWNSHIP 6 
SOUTH, RANGE 26 EAST OF SAID COUNTY AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGIN AT AN IRON ROD AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF PALMER AND 
FERRIS TRACT (BEING THE CURRENT SOUTH LIMITS OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS) AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 2 ON PAGE I OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS WITH THE 
WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF COUNTY ROAD NO. 15-A AS LOCATED AND 
DETERMINED FROM THE EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL 
RECORDS BOOK 1545 ON PAGE 510 AND 513 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS; THENCE RUN S 65 
DEG 25 MIN 34 SEC W, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, 2063.54 FEET TO AN IRON ROD; THENCE 
CONTINUE S 65 DEG 25 MIN 34 SEC W, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, 80 FEET MORE OR LESS TO 
THE WATER'S EDGE OF GOVERNOR'S CREEK: THENCE RUN SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID 
WATER'S EDGE, 311 FEET MORE OR LESS TO A POINT LYING 300.0 FEET, AS MEASURED 
PERPENDICULAR, FROM THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PALMER AND FERRIS TRACT; THENCE 
LEAVE SAID WATER'S EDGE AND RUN N 65 DEG 25 MIN 34 SEC E, PARALLEL TO SAID SOUTH 
LINE, 98 FEET MORE OR LESS TO AN IRON ROD; THENCE CONTINUE N 65 DEG 25 MIN 34 SEC 
E, 739.IO FEET TO AN IRON ROD; THENCE CONTINUE N 65 DEG 25 MIN 34 SEC E, PARALLEL 
TO SAID SOUTH LINE, 1339.0 FEET TO AN IRON ROD ON SAID WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY 
LINE; THENCE RUN NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE WITH A CURVE 
CONCAVE WESTERLY, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 1874.86 FEET, AN ARC LENGTH 
OF 31 1.25 FEET AND A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF N 09 DEG 21 MIN 18 SEC W, 
310.89 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
 

Page 223

Item #9.



EXHIBIT "B" 
 

DESCRIPTION OF APPROVED CONSTRUCTION PLANS 
(Less and except plans to be replaced due to minor changes required) 

 
Project: Gustafson Park 
  
Engineer: Cody B. Smith, P.E. 
  Halff Associates, Inc.  
  9995 Gate Parkway N., Suite 200 
  Jacksonville, Florida 32246 
 
Job Number:  037756.094 
 
Date:  May 6, 2024 
 
 

Engineer Drawing 
Number 

Description Latest 
Engineer 
Approved 
Plan Date 

C-000 Cover Sheet 06/24/2024 
C-002- C-003 General Notes  06/24/2024 
C-004 Existing Conditions & Demolition Plan  06/24/2024 
C-100 Overall Site Plan 06/24/2024 
C-101 Site Plan 06/24/2024 
C-103 Site Standard Details 06/24/2024 
C-200 – C-201 Grading & Drainage Plan 06/24/2024 
C-300 Utility Plan 06/24/2024 
C-301 Water & Sewer General Notes 06/24/2024 
C-302 Water and Sewer Standard Details 06/24/2024 
LS-200 – LS202 Landscape Plans, Notes, and Specifications 06/24/2024 

Page 224

Item #9.



EXHIBIT "C" 
REUSE POLICY 

Page 1 of 2 

X:\PROJECTS\Job Files\Current\2024-085 Gustafson Park - Tennis Court Restooms -1755 Pearce Blvd\C Developer Agreement\AGR.Gustafson Park .doc 

Effective Date - Thirty (30) days after Board's approval of the policy, for all developments that have not 
met the filing requirements of the County's Zoning Department, which requires each new development to be 
reviewed by the Development Review Committee (DRC), or for those developments not requiring DRC 
approval, which have been quoted charges to connect to the Clay County Utility Authority’s (CCUA) water 
and/or wastewater systems within twelve months prior to the effective date of the reuse policy.  A filing for 
a DRC meeting, which is incomplete as of the effective date of this policy, shall not be considered as filed 
timely for the prior policy to apply. 
 

If the developer has not commenced substantial construction on his project, which was filed with 
DRC prior to the effective date of this policy, within fifteen months after the effective date of the policy, 
then said development shall come under the provisions of this policy. 
 
Applicability - This policy will be applicable to all developments that file for a Development Review 
Committee review after the effective date of this policy.  This shall include: 
 

A. Developments occurring under Development of Regional Impact (DRI) agreements which 
may not be technically required to install residential reuse, but who choose to do so in settlement of minor 
and/or major modifications to the structure and composition of developments within the DRI. These shall be 
regulated and charged under this proposed policy and effective date criteria the same as all other 
developments. 
 

B. Exceptions to the applicability of this policy and/or effective date are as follows: 
 

1. Developments occurring under DRI agreements or Florida Quality Development 
(FQD) agreements, which are not required by said agreement to install residential 
reuse and who do not volunteer to provide residential reuse piping systems. 

 
2. Developments which, as of the date of enactment of this policy, own and maintain 

their own reuse pumping plant and purchase bulk service from the CCUA. 
 

3. Developments which have prepaid connection fees prior to January 1, 1998, at a 
prior approved rate and still have an inventory of prepaid connections, shall be 
exempt until such prepaid connections are used up. 

 
4. Developments and/or communities that own, operate and maintain their own reuse 

infrastructure as of January 1, 1998.    
 

Developments Required to Install Wastewater Effluent Reuse Piping Systems and Take Reuse Water 
When it is Available - All developments occurring after the effective date of this policy will be reviewed by 
the CCUA staff for feasibility of the installation of a reuse piping system for irrigation purposes. These shall 
include commercial, public facilities, industrial, as well as residential developments. 
 
Summary of Criteria to be Utilized by Staff to Evaluate and Determine if Reuse Piping Systems will 
be Required -  
 

(1) Financial feasibility of extending a trunk main to an area at that time, or some planned future 
date, to provide reuse water to the proposed reuse system.  This item shall consider the size of the 
development, distance to nearest master planned reuse trunk main or planned reuse plant, remaining 
developable property in the area, complexity of existing development of area which trunk mains must pass 
through, natural geographical barriers (or obstacles), environmental damage, etc. 
 

Page 225

Item #9.



EXHIBIT "C" 
REUSE POLICY 

Page 2 of 2 

X:\PROJECTS\Job Files\Current\2024-085 Gustafson Park - Tennis Court Restooms -1755 Pearce Blvd\C Developer Agreement\AGR.Gustafson Park .doc 

(2) Remaining developable land in the area (new area with very little existing development 
and much growth potential will be considered more feasible than an already built-out 
area). 

(3) Availability of adequate reuse water within a reasonable time to service the reuse system. 
 

(4) CCUA's budgetary restraints. 
 

(5) Length of time before a reuse plant or pump station is expected to be built in the area. 
 
Surcharge for Developments not required to Install Reuse Piping Systems - Due to the built-out 
condition of certain geographical areas and the other evaluation of feasibility considerations noted above, it 
will not be practical to require all areas to install reuse piping systems.  All developments that are not 
required to install the reuse system shall pay a surcharge per ERC as its share of the burden of the reuse 
system installations at a rate set forth in the "proposed charges for service availability". 
 
Requirement for Installation of an Automatic Sprinkler System - All developments where reuse piping 
systems are required shall install or require the installation of an automatic sprinkler irrigation system 
acceptable to CCUA for the development of each separate parcel (lot) within the development.  Such on-site 
systems shall utilize color-coded pipe for reuse water, functional rain sensors, and automatic controllers and 
timers. 
 
Approval of Sprinkler Irrigation Contractors - It is deemed by CCUA to be important that sprinkler 
irrigation contractors, who connect to the reuse system, be thoroughly educated with regard to reuse systems 
in an effort to eliminate any potential cross connection with the potable water system.  In this regard, all 
irrigation contractors installing irrigation systems in conjunction with this reuse program must prequalify 
with CCUA by providing their credentials and passing a qualification interview with CCUA's staff for the 
purpose of demonstrating knowledge of the key issues regarding use of reuse water.  A current certificate of 
insurance, acceptable to CCUA, naming the CCUA as an additional insured shall be on file at all times with 
the CCUA.  
 
Requirement for Payment of Reuse Base Facility Charge - All customer classes that have reuse piping 
systems available shall be required to pay the Base Facility Charge for reuse water whether they use the 
reuse water or not. 
 
Requirement for Reuse Meter - All customer classes that have reuse piping systems available shall pay for 
the installation of a reuse meter at the same time the domestic meter is requested. 
 
Wells - All developments where reuse piping systems are installed shall prohibit the installation of wells for 
irrigation purposes. 
 
Responsibility for Design and Installation of Reuse Piping Systems - Where reuse piping systems are 
required, the design engineer for the project shall design, at Developer's expense, the reuse piping system for 
the development and any reasonable trunk mains necessary to connect to the nearest source of reuse water, 
and developer shall install said system at its expense.  The CCUA's existing policy regarding cost sharing for 
oversized mains, refundable agreements, plan review and approval, and adherence to CCUA's specifications 
and details, shall apply to these reuse piping systems, the same as the potable water distribution systems and 
wastewater collection systems. 
 
 
   

Page 226

Item #9.



Page 227

Item #9.



00/00/11

XXXX

L
O

C
A
T
IO

N
P
R

O
JE

C
T

JS
DRAWN BY:

SHEET NO.

PROJECT#:

DATE:

P
R

O
JE

C
T

:

S
H

E
E

T
 T

IT
LE

:

 REV.                 DATE:                BY

REVISIONS

2
0

2
2 
R

O
M

T
E
C
, 
IN

C
. 
 A

L
L
 R

IG
H
T
S
 R

E
S
E
R

V
E
D

. 
 T

H
E
S
E
 P

L
A
N
S
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S
 M

A
Y
 N

O
T
 B

E
 R

E
P
R

O
D

UC
E
D

, 
A
D

A
P
T
E
D

 O
R

 F
UR

T
H
E
R

D
IS

T
R

IB
UT

E
D

, 
A
N
D

 N
O

 B
UI
L
D

IN
G

S
 M

A
Y
 B

E
 C

O
N
S
T
R

UC
T
E
D

 F
R

O
M

 T
H
E
S
E
 P

L
A
N
S
, 
W

IT
H
O

UT
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E
N
 P

E
R

M
IS

S
IO

N
 O

F
 R

O
M

T
E
C
, 
IN

C
.

C

PR
EL
IM
IN
AR

Y
18

24
0 N

OR
TH

 B
AN

K 
RO

AD
 - 

RO
SE

BU
RG

, O
R 

97
47

0
(5

41
) 4

96
-3

54
1

FA
X 

(5
41

) 4
96

-0
80

3
C
US

T
O

M
E
R

JOB CREATED: 7/8/2022 - LAST SAVED BY: jmiller ON 7/8/2022 - LAST PRINTED: 7/8/2022 - LOCATION: O:\Engineering RI\Sales Drawings\Templates\2003-2056 - Sierra I & II\2043\2043-T&G-16-8 -220708.dwg

01

F
L
O

O
R

 P
L
A
N

D
2

A

B

C

D1
FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

C
2

16
'-
8
" 
B

UI
L
ID

N
G

20'-8" BUILDING

SYMBOL

LEGEND

DESCRIPTION AREA/
QUANTITY

GABLE VENT 4

2x8 WOOD FILLER WALL 4

INTERIOR CEILING LIGHTS 5

EXTERIOR WALL LIGHTS 6

WALL TYPE SCHEDULE
8" REINFORCED CONCRETE
MASONRY BLOCK WALL WITH
MORTAR JOINTS, GROUTED SOLID
ALL CELLS RUNNING BOND PATTERN.

TO SANITARY SEWER
SYSTEM CONFIRMED
BY OWNER

WATER SERVICE
INTO BUILDING
CONFIRMED
BY OWNER

4
" 
S
E
W

E
R

1 
1/

2
" 
W

A
T
E
R

P

UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL
SERVICE VERIFY REQUIREMENTS FOR TYING
INTO SERVICE UTILITY EQUIPMENT CONFIRMED
BY OWNER

DRINKING FOUNTAINS
(OPTIONAL NOT INCLUDED)

CONCRETE WALK BY
INSTALLERSD

FD-1

UNISEX

HB

BP

TP

UNISEX

FD-2

PTD LV
-1

WC-1

GB42

G
B

18

G
B

36

HB-1

DF-1 DF-1

TP

FD-2

PTD

LV
-1

WC-1

GB42G
B

18

G
B

36

UNISEX

TP

UNISEX

FD-2

PTDLV
-1

WC-1

TP

FD-2

PTD

SD
LV

-1

WC-1

GB42

G
B

18

G
B

36

GB42 G
B

18

G
B

36

3"
 V

TR
3"

 V
TR

3"
 V

TR
3"

 V
TR

MECH

SD

SD

RIDGE

ROOF LINE

ROOF LINE

FD FLOOR DRAIN 5

ELECTRICAL OUTLET 2

W
W

W

SS
SS

SS

THESE PLAN VIEW AND ELEVATION DRAWINGS ARE A
PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL REPRESENTATION OF
THE BUILDING. ALL DIMENSIONS, FEATURES AND
COMPONENTS SHOWN ON THESE PRELIMINARY
DRAWINGS MAY OR MAY NOT BE PART OF THE
QUOTE. PLEASE REFER TO THE "SCOPE OF SUPPLY
AND SERVICES" LETTER PROVIDED WITH YOUR QUOTE
FOR ROMTEC'S PROPOSED SCOPE OF SUPPLY.

WWW.R
OMTE

C.C
OM

Page 228

Item #9.

Tyler Keppel
Text Box
Model 2043



00/00/11

XXXX

L
O

C
A
T
IO

N
P
R

O
JE

C
T

JS
DRAWN BY:

SHEET NO.

PROJECT#:

DATE:

P
R

O
JE

C
T

:

S
H

E
E

T
 T

IT
LE

:

 REV.                 DATE:                BY

REVISIONS

2
0

2
2 
R

O
M

T
E
C
, 
IN

C
. 
 A

L
L
 R

IG
H
T
S
 R

E
S
E
R

V
E
D

. 
 T

H
E
S
E
 P

L
A
N
S
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S
 M

A
Y
 N

O
T
 B

E
 R

E
P
R

O
D

UC
E
D

, 
A
D

A
P
T
E
D

 O
R

 F
UR

T
H
E
R

D
IS

T
R

IB
UT

E
D

, 
A
N
D

 N
O

 B
UI
L
D

IN
G

S
 M

A
Y
 B

E
 C

O
N
S
T
R

UC
T
E
D

 F
R

O
M

 T
H
E
S
E
 P

L
A
N
S
, 
W

IT
H
O

UT
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E
N
 P

E
R

M
IS

S
IO

N
 O

F
 R

O
M

T
E
C
, 
IN

C
.

C

PR
EL
IM
IN
AR

Y
18

24
0 N

OR
TH

 B
AN

K 
RO

AD
 - 

RO
SE

BU
RG

, O
R 

97
47

0
(5

41
) 4

96
-3

54
1

FA
X 

(5
41

) 4
96

-0
80

3
C
US

T
O

M
E
R

JOB CREATED: 7/8/2022 - LAST SAVED BY: jmiller ON 7/8/2022 - LAST PRINTED: 7/8/2022 - LOCATION: O:\Engineering RI\Sales Drawings\Templates\2003-2056 - Sierra I & II\2043\2043-T&G-16-8 -220708.dwg

02

E
L
E
V

A
T
IO

N
 V

IE
W

D
ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

16'-8"

12
5

17 1/2"

O.H.

LF-1 LF-1

RESTROOM

FG

DF-1
DF-1

7'
-6

 7
/1

6
" 
F
A
S
C
IA

8
'-
0

" 
W

A
L
L

8"x16" CMU SPLIT FACE
CONCRETE BLOCK WALL

3" VTR W/ VENT BOOT, TYP (4)

WALL MOUNT LIGHT, TYP

GUTTERS & DOWNSPOUTS,
(BY OTHERS), TYP

GABLE VENTS, TYP. (4)

RESTROOM

DRINKING FOUNTAIN
(OPTIONAL NOT INCLUDED)

THESE PLAN VIEW AND ELEVATION DRAWINGS ARE A
PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL REPRESENTATION OF
THE BUILDING. ALL DIMENSIONS, FEATURES AND
COMPONENTS SHOWN ON THESE PRELIMINARY
DRAWINGS MAY OR MAY NOT BE PART OF THE
QUOTE. PLEASE REFER TO THE "SCOPE OF SUPPLY
AND SERVICES" LETTER PROVIDED WITH YOUR QUOTE
FOR ROMTEC'S PROPOSED SCOPE OF SUPPLY.

FG

C
ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

20'-8"

17 1/2"

O.H.

FG FG

ARCHITECTURAL. COMP. ROOFING

CONCRETE WALK BY INSTALLER

8"x16" CMU SPLIT FACE
CONCRETE BLOCK WALL

GUTTERS & DOWNSPOUTS,
(BY OTHERS), TYP

3" VTR W/ VENT BOOT, TYP (4)

LF-1

WWW.R
OMTE

C.C
OM

Page 229

Item #9.



Page 230

Item #9.



Page 231

Item #9.



Page 232

Item #9.



Page 233

Item #9.



Page 234

Item #9.



Page 235

Item #9.



Page 236

Item #9.



Page 237

Item #9.



Page 238

Item #9.



Page 239

Item #9.



Page 240

Item #9.



Page 241

Item #9.



Page 242

Item #9.



Page 243

Item #9.



Page 244

Item #9.



Page 245

Item #9.



Page 246

Item #9.



Page 247

Item #9.



Page 248

Item #9.



Page 249

Item #9.



Page 250

Item #9.



Page 251

Item #9.



Page 252

Item #9.



Page 253

Item #9.



Page 254

Item #9.



Page 255

Item #9.



Page 256

Item #9.



Page 257

Item #9.



Page 258

Item #9.



Page 259

Item #9.



Page 260

Item #9.



Page 261

Item #9.



Page 262

Item #9.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director  

SUBJECT: City Council approval of Mittauer Invoice # 25106 in the amount of $446,770.00, and 

authorization for the mayor to execute Disbursement Request #5 (to follow) for permitting 

and design services for the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System & Potable Water 

System Improvements. Scott Schultz 

 

BACKGROUND 

On February 21, 2023, Council approved for staff to submit a Request for Inclusion (RFI) to the FDEP 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund for design services for the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water 

Improvements.  This project is in preparation for compliance with the Surface Water Discharge 

Elimination Act (Senate Bill 64).  On June 6, 2023, Council approved adding the design of the Reynolds 

Water System Improvements to the RFI.   

On August 9, 2023, the FDEP-SRF Program approved DW10044 in the amount of $2,171,400.   

 

On May 7, 2024, Council approved a Consulting Engineers Services Agreement (CESA) with Mittauer 

& Associates in the amount of $2,171,400.00 for permitting and design services for the Magnolia Point 

Reclaimed Water System. 
 

During the duration of the project the city will submit disbursement requests to FDEP.  FDEP will return 

the funds to the city.  Upon completion and closure of the project the full amount becomes a loan 

payable bi-annually for 20 years. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$446,770.00 from the Water Capital Improvement Program Budget   

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Mittauer Invoice # 25106 in the amount of $446,770.00, and authorization for the mayor to 

execute Disbursement Request #5 

Page 263

Item #10.



MITTAUER & 
ASSOCIATES, INC.
580 Wells Rd
Orange Park, FL  32073

+19042780030

Invoice  25106

BILL TO

City of Green Cove Springs
321 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, FL 
32043

DATE
03/14/2025

PLEASE PAY
$446,770.00

DUE DATE
04/03/2025

M&A PROJECT NO.
8905-61-1

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

SRF MAGNOLIA POINT RECLAIMED WATER SYSTEM & POTABLE WATER SYSTEM 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PURCHASE ORDER NO. 2725909
SRF AGREEMENT NO. DW100440
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

Engineering services concerning the SRF Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System & Potable 
Water System Improvements project rendered during the period ending March 14, 2025, including:

Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water Extensions
  o Completion of field work for topographic and boundary surveying activities. 
  o Progress toward 30% Drawings.

Harbor Road Water Treatment Plant Improvements 
  o Progress toward 60% Drawings.

Reynolds Water Treatment Plant Improvements 
  o Progress toward 60% Drawings.

LUMP SUM CONTRACT AMOUNT:  $2,171,400.00
     Item A. FDEP SRF Administration Assistance & Meetings, $19,500
     Item B. Specialized Field Studies (Topographic Surveying, Boundary Surveying, Subsurface
     Utility Engineering, Geotechnical Work), $650,000
     Item C. Engineering Design, $1,471,900
     Item D. Permitting Services, $30,000

AMOUNT PREVIOUSLY INVOICED:  $591,500.00

Amount Earned This Period 446,770.00

TOTAL DUE $446,770.00

Thank you for your business.

THANK YOU.

Page 264

Item #10.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director  

SUBJECT: City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, Amendment #4 to 

Loan Agreement WW10420 & Grant Agreement AG100421, which extends the Agreement 

date to September 15, 2025, for permitting and design services for the Magnolia Point 

Reclaimed Water System & Potable Water System Improvements. Scott Schultz 

 

BACKGROUND 

On February 21, 2023, Council approved for staff to submit a Request for Inclusion (RFI) to the FDEP 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund for design services for the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water 

Improvements.  This project is in preparation for compliance with the Surface Water Discharge 

Elimination Act (Senate Bill 64).  On June 6, 2023, Council approved adding the design of the Reynolds 

Water System Improvements to the RFI.   

On August 9, 2023, the FDEP-SRF Program approved DW10044 in the amount of $2,171,400.   

 

On May 7, 2024, Council approved a Consulting Engineers Services Agreement (CESA) with Mittauer 

& Associates in the amount of $2,171,400.00 for permitting and design services for the Magnolia Point 

Reclaimed Water System. 
 

Amendment #4 extends the agreement date to September 15, 2025 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approval and authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment #4 to Loan Agreement WW10420 & Grant 

Agreement AG100421, which extends the Agreement date to September 15, 2025 

Page 265

Item #11.



  

 1

STATE REVOLVING FUND 
AMENDMENT 4 TO LOAN AGREEMENT WW100420 

& GRANT AGREEMENT SG100421 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

This amendment is executed by the STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Department) and the CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, (Local Government) existing as a local governmental entity under the 
laws of the State of Florida.  Collectively, the Department and the Local Government shall be 
referred to as “Parties” or individually as “Party”. 

The Department and the Local Government entered into a State Revolving Fund Loan 
Agreement, Number WW100420 & Grant Agreement SG100421, as amended; and 

Loan repayment activities need rescheduling to give the Local Government additional time to 
complete construction. 

Certain provisions of the Agreement need revision. 

The Parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Unless repayment is further deferred by amendment of the Agreement, Semiannual 
Loan Payments as set forth in Section 10.05 shall be received by the Department beginning on 
March 15, 2026, and semiannually thereafter on September 15 and March 15 of each year until 
all amounts due under the Agreement have been fully paid. 

 
2. The items scheduled under Section 10.07 of the Agreement are rescheduled as 

follows: 

(2) Completion of Project construction is scheduled for September 15, 2025. 

(3) Establish the Loan Debt Service Account and begin Monthly Loan Deposits no later 
than September 15, 2025. 

(4) The first Semiannual Loan Payment in the amount of $352,435 shall be due     
March 15, 2026. 

3. All other terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement shall remain in effect. 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

Page 266

Item #11.



  

 2

This Amendment 4 to Loan Agreement WW100420 & Grant Agreement SG100421 may 
be executed in two or more counterparts, any of which shall be regarded as an original and all of 
which constitute but one and the same instrument.   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Department has caused this amendment to the Loan 
Agreement to be executed on its behalf by the Secretary or Designee and the Local Government 
has caused this amendment to be executed on its behalf by its Authorized Representative and by 
its affixed seal.  The effective date of this amendment shall be as set forth below by the 
Department. 

for 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

_________________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest:  Approved as to form and legal sufficiency: 
 

   

City Clerk  City Attorney 
SEAL   

 

 

 

 

 

 

for 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

 DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

   
Secretary or Designee 

                   
 Date 

 

Page 267

Item #11.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of the Sawcross (Tender Contractor) Pay Request #11, in the amount 

of $228,920.55, and authorization for the mayor to execute Disbursement Request # 25 (to 

follow), for construction of the Harbor Road Advanced Wastewater Treatment Facility 

(HRAWWTF), as part of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), 

State Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, 

Phase 2, SRF Agreement No. WW1000420. 
 

BACKGROUND 

On June 7, 2016, Council provided direction for staff to pursue “Scenario #3” (See excerpt from the June 7th 
staff report) sewer system expansion/improvements.   
 
Excerpt from the June 7, 2016 Staff Report 
 
“At the October 20, 2015 meeting, Council authorized submittal of a loan application under the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) program for the “Phase I” 
planning portion of the project which would be completed by Mittauer & Associates.  In addition, the Council 
approved a task order to Mittauer & Associates to prepare the planning documents necessary to secure 
capital financing under the SRF Program to complete a Facilities Plan, Environmental Plan, Capital 
Financing Plan, and associated Special Studies.”  
 
The staff report reviewed additional aspects of the analysis to date, and summarized three main 
development scenarios the City was considering.  They are outlined as follows: 
 
Scenario 1:      AWWTP only (no reclaimed water improvements) 
Scenario 2:      AWWTP and Reclaimed Water System Improvements 
Scenario 3:     AWWTP, Reclaimed Water System, and Existing Collection System Improvements 
 
As a result of the discussions and preliminary analysis, the City selected Scenario 3, which had the following 
implications: 
 
“Scenario 3 – AWWTP, reclaimed water system improvements and collection system improvements (repair 
and replacement of clay lines city-wide) 
 
                       Project Cost                            $35,181,000 
                       Loan Amount                          $28,681,000 
                       Retained Earnings                    $1,000,000 
                       Impact Fee Revenue                $1,200,000 
                       Grants                                       $4,300,000  
                       Annual Loan Payment              $1,316,100” 
 
The costs are planning-level values and the annual loan payment will be based on final bid prices, interest 

Page 268

Item #12.



rates at the time of construction loan acquisition, and accumulated grants/retained earnings/impact-fee 
revenue. Each scenario was reviewed with the following common variables: All scenarios assumed a 2% 
increase in the number of wastewater customers each year through FY’20 and a 0.5% increase each year 
from FY’21 through FY’25.All scenarios assumed $6,500,000 available in grant funding, retained earnings, 
and impact fee revenue dedicated to the project up front in order to reduce the total loan repayment 
amount.  Retained earnings is estimated at $1,000,000.  Impact fee revenue is estimated at 
$1,200,000.  Grant funding from all sources is estimated at $4,300,000.  Although, as indicated earlier in this 
writing, we may qualify for 45% grant funds from SRF, the total dollar amount available each year for grant 
funding is limited.  Staff feels that $4,300,000 is a reasonably conservative and prudent estimate as to the 
amount of grant dollars we may receive.  However, depending on the number of projects funded by the SRF 
program in the next two years and the amount of grant funding available, that number can certainly increase. 
All scenarios assume a 2.2%, 30-year loan repayment which is in line with the Capital Financing Plan 
formulas.  However, based on recent interest rate history in the SRF program and use of interest rate buy-
downs such as requiring Davis-Bacon wage requirements and Buy-American provisions of the contractor, 
we may be able to realize lower interest rates when our loan is actually processed.  The 30-year loan 
timeline contemplates repayments from FY’21 through FY’50.Reynolds Park re-development is not factored 
in to any of the scenarios. 
 
On August 10, 2016, SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a 
$2,261,200.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $1,491,035.00 to address the project’s design, 
permitting, and SSES needs.  These tasks were completed and the project has been completed / closed. 
 
On October 18, 2016, the City Council adopted after second and final reading, Ordinance O-13-2016, 
authorizing the expenditures of up to $34,158,100.00 for capital improvements to the City's wastewater 
treatment, wastewater collection and reclaimed water systems 
 
On August 8, 2018, FDER SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove 
Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction 
which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On October 2, 2018 Council approved Resolution No. R-29-2018, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit 
and mayor to execute a loan application to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) 
State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase I Construction of the Consolidated Advanced 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) and associated Lift Station Improvements. 
 
On December 4, 2018, council approved and authorized the execution of the contract  for SRF Project # 
100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount 
of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to 
Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On March 19, 2019, Council approved bid tabulations and awarded Sawcross the plant portion, and R2T the 
lift station portion, of the Phase I construction. 
 
Phase I construction being completed in May of 2020, Council authorized staff to submit a Request for 
Inclusion (RFI) to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) 
for Construction Phase II, which includes construction of a 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) - annual 
average daily flow (AADF), advanced wastewater treatment facility (AWWTF), in the amount of 
$18,165,500.00. 
 
On August 12, 2020, the FDEP SRF program awarded the City a $12,000,000.00, 20 year loan, with 
$4,452,835.00 in principal forgiveness (grant).  Due to a limitation of available funds, the SRF program 
withheld $6,186,500.00 in requested funds, which will be reviewed for award and addition to the current loan 
the next award period. 

On 10/6/2020 City Council approved Resolution No. R-27-2020, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit and 
Mayor to execute the loan application for SRF Loan # 100401 to the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated 

Page 269

Item #12.



Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal 
forgiveness (grant) amount of $4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00. 

On 1/19/2021 the City Council approved of, and authorized the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to  
execute, the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (SRF), Construction Loan Agreement WW100420, Grant 
Agreement SG 100421 for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated Advanced Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal forgiveness (grant) amount of 
$4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00.  The original loan request was 
for $18,106,500.00.  Due to limited funds, the SRF program limited the award to $12,000,000.00, with the 
plan to award the city an additional $6,106,500.00 in July 2021. 

On February 2, 2021, eight Sealed Bids were opened for the construction of the above referenced project.  
Williams Industrial was determined to be the lowest qualified bidder.  The estimated budget / original SRF 
loan request was for $18,106,500.00.  This project came in under projected budget, including the Additive 
Alternates.  

On February 16, 2021 Council approved the Engineers Recommendation of Award to Williams Industrial 
Services, LLC. 

On March 16, 2021, Council approved and executed the contract between the city and Williams Industrial. 

On July 19, 2023, Williams Industrial abandoned the site and filed bankruptcy.  Since that time staff have 
been working with the Surety (performance bond insurance company) to replace Williams Industrial with a 
substitute contractor to finish construction.   

The Surety, in cooperation with city staff, has selected Sawcross Inc. as the completion contractor (referred 
to in legal documents as the Tender Contractor).  The City and Sawcross now have the standard Owner / 
Contractor relationship and Sawcross is completing the construction of the facility. 

The following items have been received. 

 Fully Executed Tender & Release Agreement 

 Performance and Payment Bond from Sawcross to the City 

 Executed Debarment Form from Sawcross to the City. 

 
Due to the bankruptcy of Williams Industrial, and the subsequent hiring of Sawcross as the Tender 
Contractor, the cost to complete the plant rose from $2,640,255.19 to $4,713,219.00. The surety paid the 
city $2,072,963.81 over and above the original contract price. 
 
The remaining $92,245.51 of grant funds provided by the St. Johns River Water Management District 
(SJRWMD) were expended with Tender Contractors Pay Request #6. 
 
Soon to follow will be Disbursement Request #25 for the mayors execution. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$228,920.55 from the Wastewater CIP Budget 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Sawcross (Tender Contractor) Pay Request #11, in the amount of $228,920.55 and authorize 

the mayor to execute Disbursement Request # 25 

Page 270

Item #12.



Page 271

Item #12.



Page 272

Item #12.



Page 273

Item #12.



Page 274

Item #12.



Page 275

Item #12.



Page 276

Item #12.



Page 277

Item #12.



Page 278

Item #12.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval to surplus Electric Department Vehicle # 403, a 2009 Ford F-150 

that has outlived its useful life. 
 

BACKGROUND 

Vehicle # 403 has outlived its useful life and will be sold as surplus. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds received will be returned to the Electric Fund 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve surplus of vehicle #403 

Page 279

Item #13.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval to surplus various small items from the police department.  
 

BACKGROUND 

Various small items (flashlights, belt accessories, holsters, etc.) from the police department are obsolete and 
will be surplussed as deemed appropriate. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds received will be returned to the General Fund 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve surplus of various small items from the police department. 

Page 280

Item #14.



Page 281

Item #14.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval to surplus Parks Department Vehicle # 635, a 2009 Ford Econoline 

Van that has outlived its useful life.  Scott Schultz 
 

BACKGROUND 

Vehicle # 635 has outlived its useful life and will be sold as surplus. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds received will be returned to the General Fund 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve surplus of vehicle #635 

Page 282

Item #15.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: Selection of a Citizens Advisory Task Force (CATF) to support application for a grant in the 

23-24 CDBG Grant cycle. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City has secured the services of Fred Fox Enterprises to submit a grant application in the 23-24 

Communities Development Block Grant (CDBG) cycle.  The City had the option to convene a CATF to 

discuss potential projects for the application.  Exercising this option will increase the City’s grant score. 

At least 3 of the 5 members must meet low-to-moderate income standards and all must be city residents.  

The City Council needs to approve the membership of the CATF, which can be done retroactively for the 

meeting that was held on April 1, 2025 at 5:00PM.  This meeting was properly noticed to the public.  

Staff is asking approval of the following members: 

 Anthony Cotton 

 Kerrianne Ferrell 

 Henrietta Francis 

 Bob Lewis 

 Tammy Rowson 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A  

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Anthony Cotton, Kerrianne Ferrell, Henrietta Francis, Bob Lewis and Tammy Rowson to serve on 

the City’s Citizens Advisory Task Force for the 23-24 CDBG grant application cycle. 
 

Page 283

Item #16.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: April 1, 2025 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: Approval of Resolution R-04-2025, providing the disposition of $2,000,000 in over-recovered 

electric Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) funds from FY 23-24. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

Pursuant to City Council direction at the March 25, 2025 Special Session, this resolution provides that 

$2,000,000 in over-recovered PCA funds from FY 23-24 be allocated as follows: 

 $1,000,000 of the over-recovered funds shall be allocated to the general Electric Fund reserves 

to be available for capital repair and replacement needs 

 $500,000 shall be allocated to repay a portion of the FY23 interfund loan of $1,245,000 from 

the Electric Fund to the General fund 

 $500,000 shall remain for PCA fluctuations. 

This resolution memorializes Council direction as outlined in the Resolution. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A  

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Resolution R-04-2025, providing the disposition of $2,000,000 in over-recovered electric Power 

Cost Adjustment (PCA) funds from FY 23-24. 
 

Page 284

Item #17.



RESOLUTION NO. R-04-2025 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA DIRECTING THE DISPOSITION OF OVER-

RECOVERED POWER COST ADJUSTMENT FUNDS FROM FISCAL YEAR 

23-24. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Green Cove Springs City Council authorized a restructuring 

of electric rates effective January 1, 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, this restructuring moved an additional $0.02 per kWh into the base rates; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the restructuring of the rates required approval of the Florida Public 

Services Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, there was an administrative lag in implementation of the new rate 

structure and adjustment of monthly Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) rates; and 

 

WHEREAS, this administrative lag resulted in an over-recovery for FY 23-24 of 

$2,000,000; and  

 

WHEREAS, City Code Section 90-122(6)b.2 stipulates that in no case will the 

cumulative under- or over-recoveries be allowed to exceed eight percent of the fiscal 

year’s annual adopted bulk power supply budget; and  

 

WHEREAS, City Code Section 90-122(6)a stipulates that an amount may be 

established from time to time by the city by resolution to be deposited (rate 

stabilization fund deposit or RSFD) in a rate stabilization fund which shall be used at 

the discretion of the city council to offset increases in the cost of power to the city (rate 

stabilization fund adjustment or RSFA) or for other lawful electric utility purposes, 

including, but not limited to, expansions, renewals and replacement of electric utility 

facilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Green Cove Springs City Council meeting in Special Session 

on March 25, 2025 directed the disposition of the $2,000,000 in over-recovered funds.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. $1,000,000 of the over-recovered funds shall be allocated to the 

general Electric Fund reserves to be available for capital repair and replacement needs, 

$500,000 shall be allocated to repay a portion of the FY23 interfund loan of 

$1,245,000 from the Electric Fund to the General fund, and $500,000 shall remain for 

PCA fluctuations. 

 

Page 285

Item #17.



DONE AND RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 1ST DAY 

OF APRIL, 2025. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 286

Item #17.


	Top
	Item #1.	PROC - Water Conservation Month 2025
	Water Conservation Month - April 2025

	Item #2.	PROC - Public Safety Telecommunicators Week 2025
	National Public Safety Telecommunicators Week - 2025

	Item #3.	FMPA - April 2025
	FMPA Monthly Report April 2025-word
	EC-Agenda-Package-2025-03-20-2

	Item #4.	Ordinance O-03-2025 Future Land Use Small Scale Pine Avenue-Clay County Parking Expansion
	FLUS-25-001 CC2
	FLUS Application Pine Ave
	Statement of Change
	Aerial_017678-000-00
	Current FLU_017678-000-00
	Proposed FLU_017678-000-00
	Ordinance O-03-2025 FLUS Pine Ave
	FLUS-25-001ZON-25-001 CC2

	Item #5.	Ordinance O-04-2025 Rezoning Pine Avenue-Clay County Parking Expansion
	Staff Report ZON-25-001 CC2
	Rezoning Application Pine Ave
	Statement of Change
	Aerial_017678-000-00
	Current Zoning_017678-000-00
	Proposed ZON_017678-000-00
	Ordinance O-04-2025 - RZ - CC Pine Ave mdedits

	Item #6.	Affordable Housing Ordinance O-05-2025
	Staff Report CC1 affordable housing discussion
	ADUs - Critera
	Green Cove Springs Road Design Flexibility TA 10-23-23
	Regulatory Information Regarding Affordable Housing
	MinorRoad
	CollectorRoad
	CC1 affordable housing presentation
	Orlando Sec._67.606.___Alternative_Housing_Transportation_Standards.
	O-05-2025 Affordable Housing Ordinancerevised3.26.25

	Item #7.	23-24 CDBG fair housing presentation
	Staff Report - CDBG 23_24 Fair Housing Presentation 040125
	Fair Housing Presentation

	Item #8.	23-24 CDBG first public hearing
	Staff Report - CDBG 23_24 First Public Hearing 040125
	1st Public Hearing Presentation

	Item #9.	Gustafson Park Development Agreement
	Gustafson Staff Report CC1
	AGR.Revised Gustafson Park Developer Agreement 
	GP Site Plan Extract
	Bathroom Building
	Signed Rookery Development Agreement

	Item #10.	Disbursement Request #5,  Mag Point Reclaimed Water & Water System Improvements
	Disbursement Request 5, MPRW & Potable Water System Improvements 1-20-2025 Staff Report
	Inv #25106_Green Cove Springs_$446770_8905-61-1

	Item #11.	Mag Point Reclaimed Water / Water Systems Improvement SRF Amendment 4
	SRF Amendment #4, 4-1-2025 Staff Report
	WW100420 Amendment #4

	Item #12.	Sawcross Pay App #11
	Sawcross Pay Request #11, 4-1-25, Staff Report
	Tender Contractor's Pay Request No. 11

	Item #13.	Surplus Vehicle 403
	Surplus Vehicle  403, 4-1-25, Staff Report

	Item #14.	Surplus Police Explorer Program Items
	Surplus Police Explorer Program Items, 4-1-25, Staff Report
	CBL Memo

	Item #15.	Surplus Vehicle 635
	Surplus Vehicle  635, 4-1-25, Staff Report

	Item #16.	CATF membership CDBG 23-24 members
	Staff Report - CDBG 23_24 CATF members approval 040125

	Item #17.	R-04-2025 BPCA over-recovery $2,000,000 FY 23-24
	Staff Report - R-04-2025 - Electric PCA $2M over-recovered 040125
	Resolution No. R-04-2025 - BPCA over-recovery FY24 disposition

	Bottom

